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9:00 a.m. – 4:00 p.m.

Comfort Suites
4300 Diefenbaker Dr, Regina, SK

Agenda

9:00 a.m.  Member Development: Celebrating Diversity Beyond the Surface

12:00 p.m.  Lunch will be provided for all registered MCoS delegates

1:00 p.m.  MCoS Member Consultation

2:15 p.m.  MCoS Annual General Meeting

   1.0  Call to Order

   2.0 Approval of Agenda

   3.0 Appointment of Scrutineers

   4.0 Minutes of Past Meeting – June 11, 2016

   5.0 MCoS Annual Report -  President’s Report

   6.0 Treasurer’s Report

   6.1 Presentation of Audited 2016-17 Financial Statements 

   6.2 Appointment of Auditors for 2017-18

   7.0 Elections

   8.0 Other Business

   9.0 Additional Announcements

   10.0 Adjournment
 

MCoS 2017 AGM and 
Member Consultation
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President’s Message
My term as 
MCoS President 
began with the 
implementation 
of a new 2016-19 
strategic plan. 
With considerable 
satisfaction, I am 
able to report on 
our progress in 
all aspects of our 
plan: capacity 
building; enhanced 

partnerships; fostering communities that welcome and 
support multicultural values to thrive; and building 
bridges with First Nations communities as part of our 
journey towards a respectful and harmonious shared 
future. 

I am proud to share our significant accomplishments in 
2016-17 towards the strategic directions. Please also 
see the table on pages 22-23 and stories throughout the 
annual report:

1. The capacity of MCoS is strengthened: 
SaskCulture’s Annual Global Funding Adjudication 
Committee has demonstrated confidence in MCoS 
and our work with a 27% increase from 2015-
16 to 2016-17 and modest increases for the two 
subsequent years. This has allowed us to increase 
our capacity with a full-time Education and 
BRIDGES Coordinator. In addition to these funds 
from Saskatchewan Lotteries, we have been able 
to access Canadian Heritage grants, significantly 
through Canada 150 for the Welcoming and 
Inclusive Communities (WIC) project, as well as 
through Inter-Action for the anti-racism campaign. 
The Government of Saskatchewan continues to be 
a significant partner. With training and matching 
funds through artsVest, we secured a sponsorship 
from Affinity Credit union to support local BRIDGES 
projects. Self-generated revenues are rising notably 
through education, which allow us to enhance 
programming and build a reserve fund. We are 
grateful to the roles our members and partners 
play including for calendar sales. The board has 
articulated measures for the objective “Optimize 
and enhance the capacity of MCoS”. 

2. The capacity of the multicultural community 
is strengthened: MCoS supports multicultural 
work that makes a difference. Requests for 

financial and educational support for work that 
promotes multicultural values continue to rise. 
We have created a funding stream for regional 
multicultural councils to implement the five 
streams of multicultural work; we will continue 
to work to increase the funds available. MCoS has 
built capacity through the Education and BRIDGES 
Coordinator, as well as the WIC program. We 
trained 25 intercultural facilitators in February, ran 
a second pilot of INVOLVE in Weyburn in partnership 
with Southeast Newcomer Services and SaskCulture, 
and conducted 12 education workshops. WIC is 
also bringing attention to multiculturalism and 
MCoS with the Welcome Home Pledge and the WIC 
toolkit. MCoS was able to offer opportunities to 
gather and learn including the AGM with its focuses 
on reconciliation and advocacy, MCoS Multicultural 
Honours, and public forums on racism. Applications 
for MCoS funding indicate growing understanding 
of and commitment to all multicultural values and 
streams of work. 

3. Governments and public institutions are 
demonstrating a commitment to supporting 
cultural diversity, inclusion and new immigrants 
through their actions, policies and programs: 
The advocacy and public education strategy 
has relationships at its centre. We continue to 
develop these with all levels of government and 
institutions to increase practices that reflect 
multicultural values, e.g. meeting with provincial 
decision-makers regarding implementation of 
the Saskatchewan Multiculturalism Act, racism, 
funding, discussing endorsement of the WIC toolkit 
with SUMA, and supporting multicultural education 
in schools. As we develop our communication tools 
and relationships with media, MCoS attracted 
considerable attention this year related to local 
and global events as well as MCoS campaigns. 

4. Multicultural values are widely reflected in the 
community: MCoS creates provincial campaigns 
with opportunities for community engagement. The 
“Who’s Your Multicultural Superhero?” campaign for 
Saskatchewan Multicultural Week generated social 
media activity; we rely on our members to help 
with posts, shares and encouraging participation. 
The value of “recognize and reject racism” was 
foremost in the “Show Racism the Door” campaign 
for March 21st. It included public forums in 
Saskatoon and Fort Qu’Appelle, advertising, social 
media, and Arrêt/Stop Racism Youth Leadership 
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Workshops in Prince Albert, Regina and Swift 
Current. Welcoming and Inclusive Communities has 
a focus on integration: the reflection of all people 
as valuable contributors to the community.  

5. Recognition and appreciation for the historical 
and current contributions of Saskatchewan’s 
Indigenous people, including relationship to 
the land, are foundations for a respectful and 
harmonious shared future: The BRIDGES program 
is expanding to include Youth BRIDGES in Regina, 
plans for development with Common Ground in 
Prince Albert and organizational networking in 
Saskatoon. MCoS also worked with a consultant to 
develop materials and an activity to understand 
Indigenous cultures, acknowledge colonial history, 
the legacies of residential schools as well as 
commit to TRC Calls to Action.

I acknowledge the incredible contributions of my board 
colleagues who bring vision, dialogue and connections 
to the service of the entire multicultural community 
in Saskatchewan. We have an executive director who, 
along with her staff, has been innovative in programs, 
partnerships, public education and securing funding. I 
thank outgoing board member Xiaofeng Zhang who has 
brought positive insights and community involvement 
as her contributions to the MCoS board since 2013. 
We are grateful to the many types of support from 
SaskCulture, to the Ministry of Parks, Culture and 
Sport, Ministry of Education, and the Department 
of Canadian Heritage. MCoS and its members share 
multicultural values every day to bring Saskatchewan’s 
motto to life: From Many Peoples Strength.

Asit Sarkar, President

As I report on MCoS progress in the first year of the 
2016-19 strategic plan, I reflect on the remarkable 
growth in the depth and breadth of activity in the 
multicultural community and this organization. MCoS 
has created opportunities to increase connections, 
capacity, critical thinking and collective voice. 

MCoS uses the five streams of multicultural work to 
direct our human and financial resources to support 
the multicultural community to enrich Saskatchewan. 
While the streams overlap and support one another, 
each is distinct. They are described on page 19 of this 
report and relate to the multicultural values (page 
18). I will share highlights and you will find this report 
organized to demonstrate activity in each stream and 
across them.

• Cultural Continuity support nourishes the strong 
roots necessary to maintain and evolve cultural 
heritage in Saskatchewan. We funded eight 
Strategic Initiatives projects that affirm traditions 
for the present and next generations (pages 24-26). 

• Celebration of Diversity brings us together with 
the bonds of commonalities and the richness of 
difference. We encourage opportunities to deepen 
cultural sharing and learning to the level of values, 
beliefs, norms and traditions. MCoS supports 
member and school events through Strategic 
Initiatives, MEI and sponsorships (pages 27-28 ). 

• Anti-racism is 
the challenging 
and essential 
work to 
rebalance power 
and privilege in 
relationships. 
MCoS launched 
a new campaign 
for the 
International 
Day for the Elimination of Racial Discrimination on 
March 21st that included public forums and Arrêt/
Stop Racism Youth Leadership Workshops. We invest 
in member and school activities that recognize and 
reject racism and discrimination (pages 29-32). 

• Intercultural Connections allow individuals 
and communities to see each other as allies in 
the creation of safe, respectful and prosperous 
communities for all. We are proud of our BRIDGES 
partnership with new financial support, local 
projects and a workshop for local catalysts. 
We limited investments through Intercultural 
Connections in order to focus on BRIDGES. 
Many activities include real reconciliation with 
Indigenous people for a harmonious shared future 
(pages 33-35). 

• Integration is a process that inspires and recognizes 
diverse leadership and contributions to local 

Executive Director’s 
Message
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communities to create a shared and harmonious 
future. The Welcoming and Inclusive Communities 
(WIC) project has begun to train facilitators, 
develop a toolkit and promote a Welcome Home 
Pledge toward this goal. INVOLVE took place in 
Weyburn and we will soon have facilitators trained 
across the province. We successfully shared the  
We Are SK PSA videos on Facebook (pages 36-39). 

MCoS supports work in the community with funding; 
this is only possible with the dedicated volunteers on 
the Allocations and Multicultural Education Initiatives 
Committees. They develop criteria and select the 
organizations and activities that will best create 
action in each stream and make MCoS Ends a reality. 
I continue to seek additional funds to enable more 
support for excellent work, including for regional 
multicultural councils. Thanks to all the organizations 
that submit projects for your commitment to making 
multiculturalism central, to strengthening capacity and 
to achieving equality for all Saskatchewan residents!

MCoS board members’ community engagement and 
visionary leadership allow them to steer MCoS to be a 
strong organization that makes multiculturalism central 

to life in Saskatchewan. I am fortunate to work with 
a growing professional staff dedicated to high quality 
work in all five streams that enable us to put the vision 
into action. Thanks to our team: Titilayo Omolola, 
Justin Waldrop, Yordanos Tesfamariam, Jamal-e-Fatima 
Rafat, Andrea MacLeod, and Farheen Mehtab. The 
impact of MCoS activities has allowed us to cultivate 
relationships with existing and new funders; thanks 
for your support! Together with our members, many 
partners, media, businesses and consultants, MCoS 
is having a positive impact in raising the profile of 
multiculturalism and working to create welcoming and 
inclusive communities. 

As we recognize Canada’s 150th anniversary of 
confederation, we can all reflect on our roles in 
building respectful, engaging communities and in 
moving multiculturalism forward. We urge you to 
continue to promote MCoS, multicultural values and 
products, and the benefits of the lottery system in all 
your activities. This will keep our whole sector strong 
and vibrant to be leaders in a respectful shared future.    

Rhonda Rosenberg, Executive Director

MCoS ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Saturday, June 11, 2016
9:00 a.m. – 10:45 a.m. 
Park Town Hotel, 924 Spadina Crescent East, Saskatoon

MINUTES

Annual General Meeting
1.0  Call to Order

Kossmann called the meeting to order at 9:20 a.m.

Welcome to the MCoS Annual General Meeting and Member Consultation. MCoS worked with SOHL to offer 
education on reconciliation and advocacy. MCoS began with the official business meeting portion of the day. The 
President, Bruno Kossmann, thanked everyone for joining MCoS today as he presides over the last AGM of his 
career as President of MCoS. Kossmann stated that it has been a wonderful time to serve MCoS as it has grown in 
size, strength and impact, and celebrated its 40th anniversary last year. He acknowledged that MCoS met on land 
which is the traditional territory of the Cree, Saulteaux, Stoney, Nakota, Dakota and Métis and part of Treaty 6. 

Each MCoS member has one vote. To move and second motions, members are to raise their voting card and say 
the name of your organization, or your name if you’re an individual member. To vote, simply raise your card.
Today we elect a President, Vice President, Treasurer, Secretary and at least 3 members-at-large.

2016 Annual General 
Meeting Minutes
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First call for nominations
Darlene Stakiw, Past President and chair of the Nominations Committee brought the nominations slate to the floor 
and made the first official call for nominations. MCoS bylaws permit nominations from the floor. 

The roles of Directors on the MCoS Board were reviewed: 

The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan is about diversity. The Nominations Committee seeks candidates who 
add to the diversity of our board. This may be in terms of the organizations they belong to, where they live, their 
heritage, gender, age, skills, knowledge, etc. In order to be nominated, candidates must be members of MCoS; 
many belong to member organizations and some are individual members. 

Once elected to the board, directors work together to define directions that are best for multiculturalism in the 
province as a whole. Directors do not represent the organizations in which they are members, but are expected 
to share the perspectives they have as a result of those connections. 

When we vote, decisions follow the majority. Our electoral systems are designed to foster bother continuity and 
fresh perspectives.

Today we will vote for a new President and Vice-President. Bruno Kossmann has served the maximum number 
of terms as President and will become Past President. Theo Tibo will not be running for either President or Vice 
President. Please join me in thanking both of them for their immense contributions to MCoS!

The current Treasurer and Secretary have submitted nominations to run as President and Vice-President 
respectively, therefore the positions of Treasurer and Secretary were up for election. If this is the case, these 
positions will be elected for the one-year remaining in the terms, so that we maintain the cycle.
Candidates may be nominated for any of these positions, but elections will be held for those that are up for 
election or made vacant as a result of elections. The election process will allow nominations from the floor for 
all positions, including candidates who have run for a position and not been elected. This represents a change in 
procedure. As a result, elections will not be held for all positions at the same time today.

As of June 10, the candidate slate is: 
President:      Asit Sarkar
Vice President:     Neeraj Saroj
Treasurer (1 year term):      Meka Okochi
Secretary (1 year term):     Renata Cosic
 
Directors at Large (Three 2-year terms + one 1-year term): 
Ranjan Datta
Muna DeCiman (incumbent)
Harvey Knight (incumbent)
Bob Lesperance

2.0 Approval of Agenda

Moved: Ghosh, SWMA Seconded: Findura, RMC 
To accept the agenda as presented.
Carried

3.0 Appointment of Scrutineers

Moved: Tibo Seconded: Yensinjai, ACRN 
To appoint Paul Gingras and Sharon Kossmann as scrutineers for the election.
Carried

4.0 Minutes of Past Meetings – June 13, 2015
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Moved: De Ciman Seconded: Sarkar 
To accept the minutes of the annual general meeting June 13, 2015 as presented
Carried

Second call for nominations
Darlene Stakiw, Nominations Committee, brought the nominations slate to the floor and made the second official 
call for nominations. No nominations from the floor.
This was the final call for nominations for the President and Vice-President positions.

Hearing none (for President and Vice-President), a motion was made to cease nominations for the positions of 
President and Vice-President.

Moved: Cosic, IWS Seconded: Zhang 
To cease nominations for the 2016-18 MCoS President and Vice-President.
Carried

Both the President and Vice –President were acclaimed. 
The candidate for President, Asit Sarkar and the candidate for Vice-President, Neeraj Saroj spoke to the 
audience.

Third & final call for nominations
The President and Vice-President acclamations resulted in one-year vacancies for both Treasurer and Secretary. 
There was one nominee for each of these positions.

Darlene Stakiw, Nominations Committee, brought the nominations slate to the floor and made the third and final 
official call for nominations. No nominations from the floor

Hearing none, a motion was made to cease nominations for the positions of Treasurer and Secretary for 2016-17.

Moved: Findura, RMC Seconded: Ghosh, SWMA 
To cease nominations for the 2016-17 MCoS Treasurer and Secretary.
Carried

Both the Treasurer and Secretary were acclaimed. 
The candidate for Treasurer, Meka Okochi and the candidate for Secretary, Renata Cosic spoke to the audience

5.0 MCoS Annual Report -  President’s Report

As my term as MCoS President comes to an end, I reflect on the incredible growth and development we have seen 
in the past four years in Saskatchewan’s diversity and in organizational development. This has only been possible 
through the strong vision created through dialogue of all board members who bring their connections in the 
community to the service of the entire multicultural community in Saskatchewan. We have an executive director 
who, along with her staff, has been innovative in programs, partnerships, public education and securing funding. 
With sadness, I note the loss of at least two members of our community who had important contributions to 
MCoS: Wade Luzny, former MCoS General Manager, and Judy Buzowetsky, MCoS Board and MEI Committee member. 
The celebration of the 40th anniversary of MCoS in 2015 gave us the opportunity to reflect on the past, present 
and future of multiculturalism in Saskatchewan. 

I am proud to share our significant accomplishments in this final report on the 2013-16 Strategic Plan. Please also 
see the table on page 20-21, that you can also see on the screen and stories throughout the annual report:

1. The capacity of MCoS is strengthened: SaskCulture’s Annual Global Funding Adjudication Committee has 
demonstrated confidence in MCoS and our work allocating increasing annual funding through the revenue 
generated by Saskatchewan Lotteries. We have been able to access additional federal funds through Inter-
Action and the Government of Saskatchewan continues to be a significant partner. Self-generated revenues 
are rising notably through calendar sales and education fees. We are grateful to the roles our members and 
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partners play. These increases have supported communications campaigns for Saskatchewan Multicultural 
Week and March 21st; funding and sponsorship; education; and 40th anniversary activities. 

2. Increased annual funding from SaskCulture through Lottery Dollars and self-generated revenues with strategic 
partnerships have strengthened MCoS capacity. These increases have supported communications campaigns 
for Saskatchewan Multicultural Week and March 21st; funding and sponsorship; education; and 40th anniversary 
activities. 

3. The capacity of the multicultural community is strengthened: With increased immigration, the arrival 
of Syrian refugees and growing Indigenous populations, many sectors and organizations are paying more 
attention to cultural diversity. MCoS supports multicultural work that makes a difference. Requests for 
financial and educational support for work that promotes multicultural values continue to rise. We seek to 
build capacity through the new Education Coordinator and applying for greater funding. We recognize the 
key role for regional multicultural councils and continue to pursue resources to facilitate the five streams of 
multicultural work. MCoS was able to offer opportunities to gather and learn including the Integration Forum 
in partnership with SAISIA and SaskCulture, and MCoS Multicultural Honours. It was delightful to reconnect 
with many of the people who created and sustained MCoS over 40 years at the Gala and to look to the 
intercultural learning of the future as the Hip Hop Hoop Dance conveyed the ideas of the BRIDGES program. 

4. Governments and public institutions are demonstrating a commitment to supporting cultural diversity, 
inclusion and new immigrants through their actions, policies and programs: We have now created an advocacy 
and public education strategy with relationships at its centre. We continue to develop these with all levels 
of government and institutions, e.g. schools and correctional facilities, to increase practices that reflect 
multicultural values. As we develop our communication tools and relationships with media, MCoS attracted 
considerable attention this year related to local and global events, and federal, provincial and MCoS 
campaigns. The strategy includes a template to identify issues and develop strategies that is proving useful as 
we work with partners, such as SOHL to advocate for the restoration of heritage language funding. 

5. Multicultural values are widely reflected in the community: MCoS has offered learning, discussion and forum 
opportunities at our initiative, by request and through partnerships. The Arrêt/Stop Racism Youth Leadership 
workshops, which continue to grow in locations and organizations involved have real impact on the youth 
who participate. The BRIDGES program with AFCS and SAISIA saw both the Common Ground pilot project in PA 
and the Indigenous Welcomes for Syrian Refugees in four communities. Ongoing work with provincial partners 
included promoting the We Are SK videos through social media resulting in greater exposure and awareness. 
MCoS continues as a supportive leader to enable members and the public to promote multiculturalism 
throughout Saskatchewan through campaigns, investments and sponsorships.

We are grateful to the many types of support from SaskCulture, to the Ministry of Parks, Culture and Sport, 
Ministry of Education, and Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. MCoS and its members share 
multicultural values every day to bring Saskatchewan’s motto to life: From Many Peoples Strength.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank two outgoing board members who have certainly made outstanding 
contributions to MCoS, the multicultural community in Saskatchewan and their member organizations:

Theo Tibo has been involved with the Ghanaian-Canadian Association of Saskatchewan for many years. He was 
instrumental in the African Association of Regina and in its African pavilion at Mosaic. Theo has proven to be an 
experienced and thoughtful board member whose wisdom served MCoS very well as Vice-President and on the 
Executive Director Evaluation and Compensation Committee. Theo, please come forward and receive this token 
of our appreciation (Photos and hugs).

Darlene Stakiw who started out as a representative of Yorkton Multicultural Council, served on the board of 
SaskCulture and as Secretary, Treasurer, President and Past President of MCoS. Darlene has guided MCoS through 
difficult circumstances and set the stage for the strength we see today. Darlene, please come forward and receive 
this token of our appreciation (Photos and hugs). 

6.0 Treasurer’s Report

6.1 Presentation of Audited 2014-15 Financial Statements 

The 2015-16 Audited Financial Statements demonstrate responsible financial management and planning. The 
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auditors at MWC have again offered their “unqualified” opinion that the financial statements are accurate and 
reflect the true financial position of MCoS. We are grateful to the professional services at the Administration 
Centre for Sport, Culture and Recreation who support our tracking, monitoring and reporting of financial 
transactions. In addition, the auditors note that MCoS is a learning organization that acts on recommendations for 
risk reduction and process improvement. The statements indicate activity to meet our Ends through investment in 
the community and direct engagement with a healthy surplus.

As Treasurer, I will provide additional explanations on certain aspects of the Financial Statements: 
• The Statement of Financial Position (page 44) and the Statement of Cash Flow (page 46) show that there is 

less cash at the end of 2015-16 than in the previous year. This is due to a change in the timing of the deposit 
of funds from Saskatchewan Lotteries for the next year and is balanced by the very small amount of deferred 
revenue this year. 

• The Statement of Operations (page 45) shows an increase in revenue from workshop service fees. This is 
revenue from education activities, which is seeing both increasing demand and greater capacity with the 
hiring of an Education Coordinator. 

• The net surplus of $18,142 is the result of increased revenues and careful stewardship balanced with strategic 
investment in MCoS member and partnership activities. This will allow us to meet an objective in the 2013-16 
Strategic Plan, as the statements show that $10,000 will be added to the $20,000 in the reserve fund. This 
is explained in Note 4 (page 48). These funds must come from self-generated revenue, so that grants can be 
used for specific program purposes. Sources include Multifaith Calendar sales, registrations, memberships and 
donations. 

• The Statement of Cash Flow (page 46) and Note 2 (page 47) mention the Purchase of Capital Assets. As MCoS 
staff has grown, we needed to expand our office space. We have an excellent relationship with our landlord 
and have agreed to share the cost of renovations, which we have identified as leasehold improvements. 

• In Schedule 3: Meetings (page 50), it is evident that the annual general meeting in 2015 had considerably 
higher expenses than in 2014. This was due to the 40th anniversary celebration gala, member consultation and 
development sessions. The expenses are balanced by revenue from sales and sponsorships for the event. 

• There is a decrease in expenses for Multicultural Events seen in Schedule 4: Programs and Services (page 
51) due to the creation of the We Are SK PSAs and the Multicultural Forum in 2014-15, which was the 40th 
anniversary of the original Saskatchewan Multicultural Act. There is a balancing decrease in the revenue from 
the Ministry of Parks, Culture and Sport. 

Certain general remarks on our sources and use of funds deserve to be made: 
• First, lottery funding provides support for MCoS’ operations and much of its program capacity. This 

dependence is described in Note 3 (page 48). It is important to understand that our budgetary planning is 
based on three-year Annual Global Funding agreements with SaskCulture, and SaskCulture together with 
SaskSport and Saskatchewan Parks and Recreation have a five-year agreement with the provincial government 
on lottery revenue. The Lotteries Trust Fund supports over 12,000 sport, culture and recreation organizations 
in Saskatchewan communities. Lottery revenues remain stable, but are not increasing. We have provided a 
ticket to all those present at the AGM as a symbolic reminder that we are grateful for this support and to let 
others know that all activities by MCoS and those in which it invests rely on lotteries. 

• Second, donations are an important source of self-generated funds. MCoS is a registered charity that provides 
tax receipts for donations. We hope you will consider MCoS when making your choices for charitable giving 
and encourage others to contribute to multiculturalism in Saskatchewan. 

• Third, with the modest increase in funding by the Saskatchewan Ministry of Education, we were able to 
expand our Arrêt/Stop Racism youth leadership workshops to the southwest, while continuing Regina and 
Saskatoon. 

• Finally, we continue to invest in activities and projects that fulfil MCoS Ends. The Allocations Committee and 
the Multicultural Education Initiatives Committee continue to support projects while wishing they could offer 
more MCoS continues to work with organizations that receive funding to ensure that they effectively advance 
multicultural values and report in a way that demonstrates the contribution. MCoS sponsors activities that 
support our mandate and offer significant promotional opportunities.

I express our appreciation to SaskCulture, Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada, the Ministry of Parks, 
Culture and Sport, the Ministry of Education and all of you who have supported our financial efforts and our aim 
of promoting MCoS’ multicultural values through purchases of Multifaith Calendars, greeting cards, bows and 
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lapel pins, and through buying lottery tickets and encouraging others to do the same in order to support the 
cultural, sport and recreation sectors. Finally, I would like to thank my fellow members of the Finance and Audit 
Committee: Bruno Kossmann, Neeraj Saroj, and Meka Okochi for diligent attention to budgetary planning and 
financial oversight that has resulted in a very positive audit process.

Moved: Torres-Recinos Seconded: Kossmann 
To accept the Audited Financial Statements for 2015-16 as presented.
Carried

6.2 Appointment of Auditors for 2016-17

The Finance and Audit Committee recommends appointing MWC as auditor for 2016-17. May I please have a 
motion?

Moved: Ghosh, SWMA Seconded: Tibo 
To appoint MWC as auditors for the 2016-17 fiscal year.
Carried

7.0 Elections

Third & final call for nominations
Darlene Stakiw, Nominations Committee, brought the nominations slate to the floor and made the third and final 
official call for nominations. No nominations from the floor, therefore there was no election.

The Director at Large positions were acclaimed.  

Moved: Saroj Seconded: Zhang 
To cease nominations for the 2016-17 MCoS Board of Directors.
Carried

Candidates for Director at Large were called to speak for two minutes each.
Ranjan Datta
Muna DeCiman
Harvey Knight
Bob Lesperance

Darlene was pleased to present the 2016-17 MCoS Board of Directors:

President: Asit Sarkar
Past President: Bruno Kossmann
Vice-President: Neeraj Saroj 
Treasurer: Meka Okochi 
Secretary: Renata Cosic 

Directors at Large:
Ranjan Datta
Muna DeCiman
Harvey Knight
Bob Lesperance
Julio Torres Recinos
Xiaofeng Zhang

The candidates who let their names stand were thanked and a special thank you to the hard-working Nominations 
Committee consisting of:
Darlene Stakiw, Chair  Theo Tibo  Julio Torres-Recinos 



12 Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan

8.0 Other Business

Additional Announcements

MCoS Staff Announcements
• Thank you for coming and participating with us to continue the development of an organization which 

enhances and promotes multiculturalism in Saskatchewan.
• I would like to introduce our staff: Justin Waldrop, Communication Coordinator, who many of you know, 

our new Education Coordinator, Yordanos Tesfamariam, and Andrea MacLeod, Administrative Assistant while 
Titilayo is on maternity leave. We would love to keep her, so if anyone has ideas of where to find operational 
funding for staff, please let me know.

• On Thursday, June 23rd, we hope many of you will join us for a lunch and learn event we are hosting in 
partnership with UR Pride. It is the beginning of what we hope will be a series of Cultural Perspectives on 
Sexuality & Gender with this event focused on Indigenous 2-Spirit traditions & contemporary perspectives. It’s 
at the Artful Dodger in Regina from 12:00-1:00 p.m. Admission is free and food and drinks are available for 
purchase.

• We are partnering with the Saskatchewan Writers’ Guild to host storytellers from many backgrounds June 25th 

at the Regina Farmers’ Market 10:00 a.m. - 1:00 p.m. and June 26th at the PotashCorp Club Jazz Free Stage at 
4:00 p.m.

• Follow up Reports were due June 1st. If projects are incomplete, please email Rhonda to request an extension 
to a specific date. In the future, we will be making the due date May 1st in order to feature your fantastic 
work in our annual report. Extensions are possible as needed.

• The next applications for Strategic Initiative and Intercultural Connections are due September 15th. Please 
feel free to contact me to discuss ideas. This often makes for stronger applications. Forms are on the website 
and accepted at any time. MEI applications will be due at the end of October.

• I will call on Justin Waldrop, our incredible Superman of Communications & Marketing to share some 
information and requests: 
o It is extremely important that you recognize your funders. Please use MCoS logos, SaskCulture and  
      SaskLotteries logos. We are providing reusable banners. 
o It is your responsibility to let us know when events and activities are taking place. Please add them to the 
      calendar, invite us to speak, participate and facilitate, or support you in other ways. 
o Please read the newsletter – it has all kinds of useful and important information. If you have not signed 
      up for it – please do online or see me and I can add you. You may also need to check your junk box or 
      other mailboxes and approve us as a sender. 
o Please follow us on social media: Facebook, Twitter, Instagram and LinkedIn 
o The website has a lot of information, stories & forms and we encourage you to become familiar with it! 
o I am still available to do member features if any organizations would like to be featured. 
o If you have communication and marketing related questions – please feel free to contact me!

• Culture Days takes place September 30 to October 2, 2016 across Canada. Make sure multicultural activities 
shine in Saskatchewan. We can make maps and pins available if anyone is interested in doing the “Show us 
your roots” activity.

• Saskatchewan Multicultural Week will take place November 19-27, 2016 with the Multicultural Honours event 
on November 19th. You can begin thinking about awesome candidates for the Betty Szuchewycz and the Youth 
Leadership Awards. Please feel free to share this information to others who may have candidates.

• I will officially introduce the lovely and talented Yordanos Tesfamariam, MCoS Education and BRIDGES 
Coordinator: 
o We hope you will participate and encourage others to join us at educational, intercultural, leadership 
      development, succession planning and other workshops. Feel free to let us know if your organization is         
      interested in working with MCoS to host any of these.  
o Please continue to share your ideas as we move forward with the process to articulate messages for  
      advocacy and public education.

• Calendars will be on sale in July. The theme for 2016 is Love & Compassion. Don’t forget, your groups can buy 
these in bulk at reduced cost and use them as a fundraiser. 

• Buy greeting cards and pins!
• Participate in the many multicultural activities taking place this summer. June is National Aboriginal History 

Month – a great time to learn about the people who have lived on this land for millennia and make personal 
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and organizational commitments towards reconciliation. Celebrate Canada includes National Aboriginal Day, 
St. Jean Baptiste, Canada’s Multiculturalism Day and Canada Day – for which PA and Lloydminster are hosting 
multicultural celebrations. We support many events such as Summer Solstice Festival in Gravelbourg, Festival 
Culinaire Africain, and Multicultural Day at Jazzfest, Afrofest and Carisask in Regina, Motif in Moose Jaw, Ness 
Creek Music Festival and Folkfest in Saskatoon. Enjoy!

9.0  Adjournment

Kossmann adjourned the meeting at 10:50 a.m.

ATTENDANCE AT THE MCoS ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING – JUNE 11, 2016

NAMES    ORGANIZATION

Icasiana de Gala  Southwest Newcomer Welcome Centre 
Deanna Baje   Southwest Newcomer Welcome Centre 
Bob Lesperance  Individual Member
Shayne Lazarowich  Prince Albert Multicultural Council
Benoit Goubot   Fédération des Francophones de Saskatoon
Jess Hamm   Saskatchewan Intercultural Association 
Bula Ghosh   Southwest Multicultural Association
Donna Spratt   Multi-Faith Saskatchewan
Diane Ewert   Ness Creek Cultural and Recreational Society
Anahit Falihi   Saskatoon Open Door Society
Isaac Kwasi Egyir  African-Canadian Resource Network Saskatchewan
Julius Sendze Yensinjai  African-Canadian Resource Network Saskatchewan
Sophie Adou   Uganda Canadian Association of Saskatchewan
Bill Kalmakoff   Doukhobor Cultural Society of Saskatchewan
Lyndon Linklater  Global Indigenous Experience Network
Cameron Hart   Saskatoon Heritage Festival
Adam Martin   Sâkêwêwak First Nations Artists’ Collective Inc.
Wendy Brown   Regina Multicultural Council
John Findura   Regina Multicultural Council
Lisa Philips   Teachers of English as a Subsequent Language (TESL SASK)
Shauna Tilbury   Saskatoon Public School
Alanna King   CISV Saskatoon Building Global Friendship
Jess Hamm   Saskatoon Folkfest
Ranjan Datta   Individual member
Bruno Kossmann  Individual member
Theo Tibo   Individual member
Neeraj Saroj   India Canada Association of Sask Inc.
Asit Sarkar   Individual Member
Darlene Stakiw   Individual member
Harvey Knight   Individual member
Julio Torres-Recinos  Individual member
Muna De Ciman  Individual member
Renata Cosic   International Women of Saskatoon Inc. (IWS)
Xiaofeng Zhang   Individual member
Rhonda Rosenberg  MCoS Staff
Justin Waldrop   MCoS Staff
Yordanos Tesfamariam  MCoS Staff
Andrea MacLeod  MCoS Staff
Paul Gingras   SaskCulture
Elder Eugene Arcand  Presenter
Gloria DeSantis   Presenter
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The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan (MCoS) has been raising awareness of the benefits of cultural 
diversity and the dangers of racism since November 22, 1975. In 2015, MCoS celebrated 40 years of making 
multiculturalism matter. The Council was created to represent six regional multicultural councils and joined 
by a variety of multicultural, ethnocultural and educational groups. MCoS currently represents 62 member 
organizations (plus 13 individuals and two business/institution/government), which include thousands of 
volunteers committed to promoting the benefits of multiculturalism. MCoS also worked with 42 partners this 
past year on a variety of projects and events. MCoS became a provincial not-for-profit, non-governmental 
agency that works to ensure ethnocultural survival, strength and prominence and foster opportunities for cross-
cultural interaction.

We support our members and the public with promotional campaigns and materials (including Multifaith 
Calendars), a monthly electronic newsletter, investment in programs that accomplish our goals, information 
and community connections, workshops and other learning opportunities. We maintain an involvement with 
SaskCulture that has included establishing the Multicultural Initiatives Fund and serving as the Secretariat for the 
Multicultural Community of Interest.

About the Multicultural Council 
of Saskatchewan

 
Multiculturalism is central to the cultural, social, economic and political life of Saskatchewan. 

The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan is committed to promoting, fostering, improving and 
developing multiculturalism in the cultural, social, economic and political life of Saskatchewan while 
working to achieve equality of all residents.

a. To promote recognition of the benefits of cultural diversity in Saskatchewan and assist in the 
    development and acceptance of multiculturalism.

b. To recognize and promote the Saskatchewan motto: From Many Peoples Strength and the  
    Saskatchewan Multicultural Act.

c. To foster an environment in which organizations and individuals can contribute to the 
    multicultural development of Saskatchewan.

d. To promote positive cross-cultural relations through cross-cultural communication, contact 
    and understanding.

e. To recognize the special contribution which refugees and immigrants bring into our province 
    and assist in the integration process through education.

f. To recognize the special contributions which First Nations and Métis people provide to our 
    province and encourage cultural competency and intercultural connections.

Our Vision

Our Mission

Our Aims & Objectives
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• November 22, 1975 - Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan (MCoS) founded in Regina. 

• We are particularly proud to have been part of the creation of the provincial motto: From Many 
Peoples Strength (Multis e Gentibus Vires), a powerful statement about who we are – past, present  
and future. 

• Member of the Saskatchewan Committee for the Elimination of Racism in Sport and Recreation. 

• Development, management and distribution of Multicultural Education Initiatives (MEIs) to schools to 
encourage understanding and interest in multiculturalism. 

• 1987-2008: Member funding for operations and projects, supporting various groups and projects in 
Saskatchewan focused on multiculturalism, understanding, integration and the elimination of racism. 

• 2009 onward: Strategic Investment in member projects that advance our mission, aims and objectives. 

• Promoting multicultural events and projects around the province to members and the general public. 

• Youth conferences and workshops on the subject of anti-racism and multiculturalism, including Youth 
Action Now with Ukrainian Canadian Congress-Saskatchewan Provincial Council (UCC-SPC) and current 
Arrêt/Stop Racism workshops. 

• Organizing seven national conferences held in Saskatchewan on multicultural matters. 

• Promoting our cultural heritages across the country during Saskatchewan’s Centennial year. 

• We Are SK PSA project is a partnership between seven organizations – Aboriginal Friendship Centres 
of Saskatchewan (AFCS), Conseil Culturel Fransaskois (CCF), MCoS, Saskatchewan Film Pool (SFP), 
Saskatchewan German Council (SGC), Saskatchewan Organization for Heritage Languages (SOHL), and 
UCC-SPC with support from the Ministry of Parks, Culture and Sport. This project features six PSAs 
with the following themes: Culture is a Two-Way Street; From Many Peoples Strength; Cold Land, Warm 
Hearts; Look Beyond the Surface; Home and Overcoming Discrimination. The PSAs have been available 
through broadcast, web site (www.WeAreSK.ca) and on social media. 

• Multicultural Forum in honour of the 40th anniversary of the Saskatchewan Multiculturalism Act in 
partnership with the Ministry of Parks, Culture and Sport. 

• Multicultural Honours event hosted by The Honourable Vaughn Solomon Schofield, Lieutenant Governor 
of Saskatchewan that recognizes significant contributions to the multicultural community. Betty 
Szuchewycz and Youth Leadership Awards are presented annually. 

• Building Relationships Interculturally through Dialogue and Growing Engagement in Saskatchewan 
(BRIDGES) with the Aboriginal Friendship Centres of Saskatchewan (AFCS) and Saskatchewan 
Association of Immigrant Settlement and Integration Agencies (SAISIA). Work has included research  
and consultations, a pilot project in Prince Albert, and a series of Indigenous Welcome events for 
Syrian refugees, Youth BRIDGES in Regina and organizational networking in Saskatoon. 

• Integrating Newcomers with Volunteer Opportunities to add Leadership Value through Education 
(INVOLVE) is a partnership with SAISIA, SaskCulture and Regina Open Door Society. A very successful 
pilot was run in Regina in 2015 and another in Weyburn in 2017. Facilitator training will take place in 
April 2017 to make it available in numerous communities.  

• Integration Forum with SAISIA and SaskCulture in October 2015. 

• Started the Welcoming and Inclusive Communities project in 2016. Activities include the Welcome 
Home Pledge, facilitator training and toolkit.

MCoS has Served as a Leader
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Non-Profit Organizations
1. Afrofusion Entertainment Inc.
2. African-Canadian Resource Network  

Saskatchewan Inc.
3. Association of United Ukrainian Canadians (Reg)
4. Bhutanese Nepali Community of Regina Inc.
5. Bravo Regina Winterfest Inc. (Waskimo)
6. Buddhist Centre of Regina Inc. 
7. Canadian Roots Exchange 
8. Children’s International Summer Villages (CISV) 

Saskatoon 
9. Common Weal Community Arts
10. Communauté des Africains Francophones (CAFS)
11. Community Legal Assistance Services for  

Saskatoon Inner City Inc. (CLASSIC)
12. Doukhobor Cultural Society of Saskatchewan
13. Family Service Saskatoon
14. Federation des Francophones de Saskatoon
15. Festival Culinaire et Culturel Africain de Regina
16. Ghanaian-Canadian Association of Saskatchewan
17. Ghanaian - Canadian Association of Saskatoon 

(GCAS) – 
18. Girl Guides of Canada - Saskatchewan Council
19. Global Indigenous Experience Network Inc.
20. Global Youth Education Network (Next Up)
21. Gujarati Samaj of Saskatchewan
22. Heritage Community Association
23. Heritage Festival of Saskatoon
24. Igbo Cultural Association of Saskatchewan Inc.
25. India Canada Association of Sask Inc.
26. International Women Of Saskatoon Inc. (IWS)
27. Moose Jaw Multicultural Council Inc.
28. Multi-Faith Saskatchewan
29. Multinational Association of Russian Speaking 

Residents
30. Muslims for Peace and Justice
31. Ness Creek Cultural & Recreational Society Inc.
32. Next Up Saskatchewan
33. Prince Albert Multicultural Council
34. READ Saskatoon
35. Regina Immigrant Women Centre
36. Regina Japanese Canadian Club
37. Regina Jazz Society Inc.
38. Regina Multicultural Council
39. Regina Open Door Society Inc.
40. Regina Public Interest Research Group (RPIRG)
41. Rielco Productions
42. Sâkêwêwak Artists Collective Inc.
43. Saskatchewan African Canadian Heritage  

Museum Inc.
44. Saskatchewan African Fashion

45. Saskatchewan Archaeological Society
46. Saskatchewan Association on Human Rights
47. Saskatchewan Caribbean-Canadian Association
48. Saskatchewan Intercultural Association
49. Saskatchewan Jamaican Association
50. Saskatoon Folkfest Inc.
51. Saskatoon Open Door Society
52. Shakespeare on the Saskatchewan
53. Societé historique de la Saskatchewan Inc.
54. Southeast Newcomer Services
55. Southern Saskatchewan Summer Solstice  

Festival d’été 
56. SouthWest Multicultural Association
57. SouthWest Newcomer Welcome Centre
58. Spring Free From Racism
59. Teachers of English as a Subsequent Language  

(TESL SASK)
60. Town of Tisdale (Northeast Newcomer Services)
61. Uganda Canadian Association of Saskatchewan 

(UCAS)
62. Yorkton Short Film and Video Festival

Individuals
1. Asit Sarkar
2. Bruno Kossmann
3. Bob Lesperance
4. Darlene Stakiw
5. Harvey Knight
6. Julio Torres-Recinos
7. Kam Teo
8. Marian Jennifer Holmes
9. Muna De Ciman
10. Neeraj Saroj
11. Terri Sleeva
12. Theo Tibo
13. Xiaofeng Zhang

Business/Institution/Gov’t
1. City of Lloydminster
2. City of Yorkton

Partners
1. Aboriginal Friendship Centres of Saskatchewan
2. Affinity Credit Union
3. Amnesty International
4. Business for the Arts
5. Carlton Trail Regional College
6. City of Regina
7. City of Saskatoon
8. Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada

Members and Partners
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9. Conseil Culturel Fransaskois
10. Daughters of Africa
11. Department of Canadian Heritage
12. Heritage Saskatchewan
13. Humboldt Regional Newcomer Centre
14. Indian and Métis Friendship Centre of Prince Albert
15. International Women of Saskatoon
16. Lieutenant Governor’s Office
17. MacKenzie Art Gallery
18. Ministry of Canadian Heritage
19. Ministry of Economy
20. Ministry of Education 
21. Ministry of Parks, Culture and Sport
22. Ministry of Public Safety and Emergency 

Preparedness
23. Multilingual Library Services Committee
24. New Dance Horizons
25. Newo-Yotina Friendship Centre
26. Saskatchewan Association of Immigrant Settlement 

and Integration Agencies
27. Saskatchewan German Council
28. Saskatchewan Human Rights Commission
29. Saskatchewan Lotteries
30. Saskatchewan Organization for Heritage Languages 
31. Saskatchewan Settlement Workers in Schools
32. Saskatchewan Writers’ Guild
33. Saskatoon Open Door Society
34. SaskCulture
35. Southeast Newcomer Services
36. Theatre Saskatchewan
37. Ukrainian Canadian Congress - Saskatchewan 

Provincial Council
38. University of Regina
39. University of Saskatchewan
40. UR Pride
41. Weyburn Public Library
42. YWCA Prince Albert

MCoS Board of Directors

Past-President
Bruno Kossmann

Director
Bob Lesperance

Director
Ranjan Datta

President
Asit Sarkar

Vice-President
Neeraj Saroj

Director
Xiaofeng Zhang

Treasurer
Meka Okochi

Director
Harvey Knight

Director
Muna De Ciman

Director
Julio Torres-Recinos

Secretary
Renata Cosic

MCoS is governed by an elected Board of Directors. The diverse wisdom and devotion the directors bring to their 
road work on vision and policy complements the dedication of the staff to achieve and advance multiculturalism 
and demonstrate the provincial motto: From Many Peoples Strength. These volunteers serve as cultural 
ambassadors in all areas of the province. The current directors were elected in June 2015 or June 2016 at the 
MCoS AGM to serve a two-year term.
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Multicultural Values
Multicultural values are rooted in the provincial motto From Many Peoples Strength and the treaty 

relationships that define our province. All MCoS work is guided by these values, which are expressed as:

We recognize the multicultural diversity of the people of Saskatchewan. We believe in the strength of 
supporting cultural continuity and pride in one’s cultural ancestries. We celebrate the sharing between 
cultures because culture is a two way street.

Respect for Diversity

We recognize the negative impact of racism and discrimination. We promote the importance of all 
people in overcoming these issues to achieve equitable outcomes for all Saskatchewan residents.

Recognition and Rejection of Racism

We actively support and encourage efforts to bring communities together in ways that will build 
relationships based on understanding and respect to foster capacity for problem solving and planning.

Intercultural Connections

We support welcoming and inclusive communities that create a sense of home and belonging.  We 
recognize the creativity and innovation that arise from bringing different cultural perspectives together 
and cultivating the unique contributions of all.

Integration

MCoS Staff

Executive Director
Rhonda Rosenberg

Communications and 
Marketing Coordinator

Justin Waldrop

Education Coordinator
Yordanos Tesfamariam

Administrative and 
Communications Assistant

Andrea MacLeod

Office and Project Assistant 
(Work Placement)
Farheen Mehtab

Project Coordinator
Jamal-e-Fatima Rafat

Executive Assistant
Titilayo Omolola
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Streams of Multicultural Work
The multicultural values are embedded within the multicultural streams. These streams represent the main 
tenants of multiculturalism and are the focus of our programming.

Cultural 
Continuity

                          Cultural Continuity empowers ethnocultural
                        organizations, individuals and communities to retain,
                 maintain and evolve distinctive cultural practices and 
            traditions in the Canadian context. Supported through
      investments in Strategic Initiatives and showcased at events such
as Multicultural Celebration at the MacKenzie Art Gallery.

Celebration 
of Diversity

                                    Celebration of Diversity includes education 
                        and festivals that showcase differences and similarities,
                 most often through performance, cuisine and other arts. 
            It includes an awareness that groups that include many 
      perspectives, especially from different cultural world views, lead 
to greater creativity and innovation. Sponsorship of major events, such 
as Mosaic, Folkfest, Motif, as well as some Strategic Initiative and many 
Multicultural Education Initiative investments.

Anti-Racism                           Anti-Racism work looks at issues of power and
                        privilege and how they impact individual and systemic
                 discrimination; it usually includes active dialogue to
            build equity and justice in our institutions and communities. 
      MCoS coordinates an annual March 21st campaign, facilitates Arrêt/
Stop Racism Youth Leadership Workshops and invests in member and school 
activities that recognize and reject racism and discrimination.

Intercultural 
Connections

                          Intercultural Connections entails different
                        cultural groups coming together over time to build
                  bridges i.e. exchanges, pen pals, cooperative work, creating
            safe spaces, dialogue, creative projects, etc. Investments
      through Intercultural Connections are good examples, as is the BRIDGES 
project in partnership with Aboriginal Friendship Centres of Saskatchewan 
(AFCS) and Saskatchewan Association of Immigrant Settlement and 
Integration Agencies (SAISIA).

Integration                           Integration is focused on facilitating the process 
                         newcomers to Canada or a community experience beyond
                 settlement to become part of their new communities. It  
             includes seeing themselves and being seen as contributors and  
      feeling welcome to be themselves in many contexts. INVOLVE is a 
current partnership with SAISIA and SaskCulture to nurture newcomers as 
volunteer leaders. The Welcoming and Inclusive Communities project has 
significant impact in this stream.
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Right: 

MCoS Executive Director, 
Rhonda Rosenberg, 

met PM Justin Trudeau 
and presented him with 

a gift of multicultural 
products on behalf of the 

Multicultural Council of 
Saskatchewan.

Above:

Three 
generations of 
students and 
teachers.

L-R: Yordanos 
Tesfamariam, 
Joyce Vandall 
and Rhonda 
Rosenberg.

Below: 

MCoS Staff at the 2016 
MCoS Multicultural Honours

L-R: Yordanos Tesfamariam, 
Justin Waldrop, Andrea 
MacLeod, Rhonda Rosenberg, 
Jamal-e-Fatima Rafat, and 
Farheen Mehtab 
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MCoS Funding and Grant Programs 

Program Name 
 Total # Funded Total $ Funded 

Strategic Initiatives 27 $43,700 

Regional Multicultural Councils 4 $9,500 

Intercultural Connections 3 $7,000 

Multicultural Education Initiatives (MEI) 24 $8,805 

Sponsorships 15 $19,000 

March 21st Events 8 $8,100 

Total 81 $96,105 

Provincial Public Education Campaigns 

Campaign Name 
  Investment 

March 21st Programming, including Arrêt/Stop Racism youth 
leadership workshops  $49,000 

Saskatchewan Multicultural Week  $18,330 

African-Canadian/Black History Month and Asian Heritage 
Month  $3,675 

Total  $71,005 

Projects & Partnerships 

Name / Title  Investment 

BRIDGES and INVOLVE  $6,114 

Welcoming and Inclusive Communities  $112,849 

We Are SK PSAs, International Women’s Day, Canada’s 
Multiculturalism Day, Queen City Pride  $5,767 

Total  $124,730 

 

Investments & Funding 2016-17
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STRATEGIC DIRECTION #1: The capacity of MCoS is strengthened. 

1.1. Ensure the financial 
sustainability  
of MCoS 

i. SaskCulture AGF allocation 2016-17 is 27% more than 2015-16.  
ii. We increased new sources of funding with two Department of 

Canadian Heritage grants: $107,850 for WIC from Canada 150 and 
$25,000 for the anti-racism campaign from Inter-Action. Affinity 
Credit Union sponsored local BRIDGES projects with $10,000 and 
artsVest matched $8,135. Education revenue is increasing. 

iii. Total self-generated revenues from calendar sales, memberships, 
education, sponsorships and partnership contributions is $57,178.05, 
rising notably allowing us to enhance programming and build a 
reserve fund. 
 
 

1.2. Optimize and enhance the 
capacity of MCoS 

 

i. The board completed the initial task of establishing definitions and 
measures ahead of the date of March 31, 2017. 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTION #2: The capacity of the multicultural community is strengthened.  

2.1. Enhance support to 
members with a focus on 
Regional Councils 

 

i. MCoS supported 8 projects from 7 regional councils and 
organizations that fill that function with $18,500 from the new 
Regional Multicultural Councils fund, Intercultural Connections and 
Sponsorships. Excellent uptake of Saskatchewan Multicultural Week 
and March 21st activities and campaigns. 
 
 

2.2. Strengthen the capacity to 
develop, recruit and 
retain leaders who have 
the knowledge and skills 
to foster organizational 
strength and stability. 
 

i. INVOLVE continues at Regina Open Door Society. In partnership with 
SaskCulture and Southeast Newcomer Services, we ran a session in 
Weyburn in March 2017.  

ii. MCoS surveyed members on their organizational development 
needs. We also held two WIC-related networking events in Regina 
and Saskatoon. 
 
 

2.3. Nurture a deeper 
understanding, 
acceptance and 
demonstration of 
multicultural values in the 
multicultural community 
 

i. All activities funded by MCoS foster multicultural values in the 
community; those working at a deeper level receive higher funding. 
Strategic Initiatives: 32 requests for $122,815; 27 granted $43,700. 
Intercultural Connections: 6 requests for $12,500; 4 granted $7,000. 
Regional Multicultural Councils:  4 requests for $21,998.84; 4 
granted $9,500. Multicultural Education Initiatives MEI:  26 requests 
for $9,840; 24 granted $8,805. Sponsorships:  22 requests for 
$48,750; 15 granted $19,000. 
 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTION #3:  Governments and institutions are demonstrating a 
commitment to supporting cultural diversity, inclusion and new immigrants through their 
actions, policies and programs. 

3.1. Provide governments and 
institutions with tools to 
create inclusive 
workplaces, policies and 
services that reflect 
multicultural values. 

 

i. MCoS engaged in 15 activities from the Advocacy and Public 
Education plan including meeting with federal, provincial, 
municipal, First Nations and other decision makers. 
Modules supporting inclusive workplaces were developed for 
Intercultural Facilitator Training and the WIC toolkit. 

MCoS Strategic Directions &



23Annual Report 2016 - 2017

 

 

STRATEGIC DIRECTION #4: Multicultural values are widely reflected in the community. 

4.1. Facilitate public forums to 
discuss and advance 
multicultural values 

 

i. MCoS held public forums on racism in Saskatoon on March 20 and 
Fort Qu'Appelle on March 26. Stories shared and table talk 
conversations were rich. 

4.2. Implement the Advocacy 
and Public Education 
Strategy 

i. Achieved through Saskatchewan Multicultural Week “Who's your 
multicultural superhero?” campaign, Show Racism the Door 
campaign, African-Canadian Black History Month, International 
Women's Day, media stories, social media and other strategies 
Created Anti-Racism 101 web page with on-going development. 
Implemented strategies for heritage language school funding. 

ii. Recognized the benefits of multiculturalism and contributions of the 
community with the Multicultural superhero campaign (to be 
repeated in 2017). Some of those who have challenged racism are 
highlighted in the Show Racism the Door campaign. The WIC tool kit 
includes ways for municipalities, organizations and businesses to 
provide recognition. 
 

4.3. Promote multicultural 
values to young people, 
including those born to 
immigrant parents, 
newcomers, Indigenous 
and established Canadians, 
to encourage belonging 

i. Education and BRIDGES Coordinator is in place as a permanent 
position. Arrêt/Stop Racism youth leadership workshops took place 
in Regina, Prince Albert, and Swift Current. The Show Racism the 
Door activity kit is appealing to schools. MEI funding reaches young 
people across the province. Youth BRIDGES connects youth who are 
often marginalized in Regina and supports them to develop skills 
and ways to share perspectives. These and other activities work 
towards this objective. 

4.4. Support welcoming and 
inclusive communities 

i. The Welcoming and Inclusive Communities Project trained 25 
Intercultural Facilitators in Saskatoon. The Education Coordinator is 
working to arrange co-facilitated sessions with each of them and 
further training is planned. The Welcome Home Pledge is underway 
and 150 pledges were taken in 2016-17; this met the goal for the 
entire project, but more will be taken in 2017-18. The WIC toolkit 
has been developed. WIC presentations and workshops took place at 
several Sport, Culture and Recreation Districts. Several funded 
member activities also support integration. 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTION #5: Recognition and appreciation for the historical and current 
contributions of Saskatchewan’s Indigenous people, including relationships to the land, are 
foundations for a respectful and harmonious shared future. 

5.1. Enhance opportunities to 
engage in meaningful 
intercultural connections 
and relations that build on 
mutual understanding and 
a shared stake in shaping 
the future. 

i. BRIDGES: Dr. Joe Garcia finalized the evaluation report on Common 
Ground in Prince Albert; they began planning for next steps. Youth 
BRIDGES in Regina facilitated 5 events with 145 participants. The 
WIC facilitator training included an optional pre-conference 
BRIDGES training for 13 participants. BRIDGES organizational 
networking meeting in Saskatoon. MCoS supported 3 Strategic 
Initiatives that support this strategic direction, including a youth 
exchange to Beardy's & Okemasis First Nation.   

ii. We contracted an Indigenous consultant to help develop materials 
and an activity for the Arrêt/Stop Racism workshops to understand 
Indigenous cultures, acknowledge colonial history, the legacies of 
residential schools and as well as commit to TRC Calls to Action. 
 

2016-17 Accomplishments
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The Saskatchewan African-Canadian Heritage Museum 
(SACHM) is one of the provincial leaders in 
promoting the importance of the historical and current 
contributions of people of African descent in the 
province. After years of reflecting and studying, this 
year they have chosen to change the title of Black 
History Month to African-Canadian/Black History Month. 
This aligns with the identities of many people who 
have immigrated from Africa as well as with the 1978 
UNESCO Declaration on Race and Racial Prejudice, 
which clarifies that genetics do not support human 
racial classifications; however, race as a social, political 
and economic construct remains a reality that results 
in persisting racial discrimination, violation of human 
rights and social injustices. The new title is meant to 
be inclusive of all people of African descent.

Every year, Canadians are invited to participate in
Black History Month festivities and events that honour
the legacy of African-Canadians, past and present. 
Canadians take this time to celebrate the many 
achievements and contributions of Canadians with 
African heritage who, throughout history, have done 
so much to make Canada the culturally diverse, 
compassionate and prosperous nation we know today. 
It is also an opportunity for all of us to learn about the 
wide range of African-Canadian experiences, including 
dealing with racism, and the vital role this community 
has played throughout our shared history. 

Several Saskatchewan organizations celebrate African-

Canadian/Black History Month. SACHM hosted
presentations by Dr. Barbara McNeil and a stunning 
concert with Measha Brueggergosman. The 
Saskatchewan Caribbean-Canadian Association holds 
an annual gala. This year MCoS provided sponsorship 
funding to la Communauté des Africains Francophones 
de Saskatchewan (CAFS) for a series of events 
throughout February. CAFS:

• Launched African-Canadian/ Black History month 
activities at the University of Regina

• Engaged 400 students from Laval Elementary to 
learn about Viola Desmond through a presentation 
and participate in a contest to win a new $10 bill 
featuring Viola Desmond. 

• Helped 60 participants refine their culinary skills 
in a community kitchen with Federation des 
Francophones de Saskatoon (FFS) and Assemblée 
Communautaire Fransaskoise (ACF). 

• Hosted a Multicultural Night in Regina featuring 
a presentation on African Descendants in 
Saskatchewan by SACHM, an African traditional 
dance with the Congolese Lights group, and a 
theatre arts presentation with Laurier Gareau and 
Michaud from the Conseil Culturel Fransaskois. This 
event attracted 80 participants, including 60 youth. 

• Visited Gravelbourg for three days engaging over 
200 people in activities including a movie about 
Viola Desmond, a multicultural supper and an 
African exhibition. 

• Presented at École Monseigneur de Laval. CAFS 
member, Jean Nepo Murwanashyaka, shared Viola 
Desmond’s biography and a brief story. CAFS 
showed the movie “Good Lie” to 122 students. 
There was strong participation from school officials, 
community members and students. 

It is not difficult to see how CAFS African-Canadian 
programming has a significant impact in Saskatchewan 
communities. They raise awareness of accomplishments 
for all and pride for those of African heritage. They 
accomplish important cultural continuity and anti-
racism work.

Programs and Services 

Empowers ethnocultural organizations, individuals and communities to retain, maintain and evolve 
distinctive cultural practices and traditions in the Canadian context.

The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan invests in its members and the multicultural community of Saskatchewan through its 
programs and services:  A) Multicultural Education Initiatives, B) Strategic Initiatives, C) Intercultural Connections, D) Sponsorships, 
and E) MCoS Initiatives & Partnerships.  We present highlights of our programs and services organized by the five streams of 
multicultural work: 1) Cultural Continuity, 2) Celebration of Diversity, 3) Anti-Racism, 4) Intercultural Connections, and 5) Integration.

1. Cultural Continuity 

Black History Month 
becomes African-Canadian/
Black History Month

African-Canadian/ 
Black History is rich in 
Saskatchewan
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Caribbean members paraded through the streets of 
Regina celebrating and sharing their culture with 
spectators. Following close behind, a colourful crowd 
of kids and adults danced to soca music through the 
streets, dressed up in feathers, beads and colours 
representing their nationalities. The 10th annual 
Carisask was a celebration of the people from the 
Caribbean island nations now living in Saskatchewan. 

“If we can’t get to the islands we’re 
bringing the islands to them,” laughs 
parade coordinator Rumatu Denise 
Abubakar. For her, the festival gives 
the proud expatriates an opportunity to 
dance and party, like they did in their 
home nations, but also to share their 
culture with non-Caribbeans. “There’s 
so many different ethnicities in this city 
and I think it’s kind of interesting to 
know and to learn and to understand 
one another,” says Abubakar.

The weekend carnival is put on by the 
Saskatchewan Caribbean Canadian 
Association (SCCA). It emulates the 
popular outdoor celebrations held in 
countries like Bahamas and Trinidad. 

SCCA founding member Rudy Small wanted to show off 
island spirit in Regina when they started putting on the 
festival 10 years ago. “You get together in unity and 
strength,” he explains. “We’re all human and this life 
is short, so enjoy it.”

There was plenty of enjoyment going around. The 
festival is growing every year according to Small. The 
infectious rhythms and colourful Caribbean music draws 
crowds on the sidewalk along Albert Street, watching 
the parade, taking pictures and trying their hand at a 
little dancing. (Story and photo: Leader-Post)

During African-Canadian/Black History Month, École Monseigneur de Laval dedicated a space to 
Viola Desmond and Black athletes who stand out. Photo : RadioCanada/Corey Herperger

Connecting and sharing 
cultures
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Melfort elementary schools had the opportunity to have 
a student art show at the Sherven-Smith Art Gallery. 
Eight Melfort classrooms from Reynolds Central School, 
Brunswick School, and Maude Burke School took part 
in an art project focused on the traditional Indigenous 
medicine wheel. Students created artwork inspired 
by the teachings of the medicine wheel; each class 
created artwork on this theme in a different format. 
The art gallery displayed the students’ work for the 
month of January and community members were 
invited to a special opening.

“The Medicine Wheel Art Project was a huge success,” 
exclaims Karen Hadwen, teacher at Reynolds Central 
School. “We were able to partner with several 
community agencies, including the City of Melfort, The 
Marguerite Riel Centre and a local framing gallery.” 

This project creates awareness of the medicine wheel 
and how it connects to school curriculum and also 
in the greater context of seasons, the number four, 
the circle and connectedness. Parents, students and 
community members were able to learn about the 
medicine wheel. The schools’ First Nations, Métis and 
Inuit Consultant was able to visit some classrooms and 
teach about the medicine wheel prior to the creation 
of the artwork. 

Grade four student, Fynn, explains that he learned that 
First Nations and Métis people use the medicine wheel 
to represent the world and Mother Earth, what lives in 
it and what type of animals and even the weather.

More than 100 students, teachers and community 
members came together at the gala opening to view 
the Medicine Wheel Art Project. Artwork was hung at 
the Kerry Vickar Centre, Northern Lights Gallery and 
Marguerite Riel Centre. 

One parent remarked, “I learned so much about the 
Medicine Wheel from looking at the artwork!”

“We are still seeing a ripple effect from the show,” 
observes Kathy Gray, Program Coordinator for the Kerry 
Vickar Centre. “We see more kids stopping by the 
gallery and commenting on the current show. There has 
been a huge increase of kids going through the gallery 
and writing about their experiences in the guest book.” 

The medicine wheel 
teaches connectedness
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Not even extreme inclement weather could halt the 
Harvest Moon Festival. Regina’s Heritage Community 
Association hosted the full-day festival that brought 
a wide variety of community members together in 
celebration of the cultural diversity of the Heritage 
neighbourhood. The Harvest Moon Festival involved 
450 attendees, 25 performers, 15 volunteers, and 8 
local organizations in the collective creation of an 
environment that joyfully and robustly celebrates 
Saskatchewan's multiculturalism.

Through performance and interactive art-based 
activities, participants communicated stories and 
histories of their respective cultures, promoting 
deeper understanding and respect. This included a 
dance by the Chinese Cultural Centre's Lion Dancers, 
an interactive performance by hoop dancer Terrance 
Littletent, who took time between his dances to 
explain the origin of the art form, its connection to his 
culture and history, an interactive storytelling-through-

art activity run by Paper Crane Community Arts, and 
a community round dance backed by the drums of the 
Kawacatoose Boys. 

Heritage Community Association executive director, 
Shayna Stock, emphasizes that the festival always 
prioritizes cultural expression of First Nations cultures. 
Noticeable this year is that many newcomers attended 
the festival. “Through the cultural performances 
and interactive art activities, they learned about the 
histories of some of the cultures that have existed in 
this neighbourhood for generations,” explains Stock. 
“We trust that sharing food and celebration with 
other community members supported their sense of 
belonging and integration into our community.”

2. Celebration of Diversity 
Includes education and festivals showcasing differences and similarities,  through performance, 

cuisine and other arts. It includes an awareness that groups that include many perspectives,
 especially from different cultural world views,  lead to greater creativity and innovation.

Cultural histories 
celebrated and shared
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Student-led cultural diversity research and learning 
was on showcase at St. Henry’s School in Melville. 
Students set up a multicultural display of projects and 
resources in the school library to promote and educate 
students on various aspects of different cultures. Some 
students created posters to display all the information 
they learned about the culture, while other students 
delivered presentations via PowerPoint. 

This project aims to educate students on the 
differences and similarities between cultures and 
teaches them to be accepting of cultural differences. 

It also encourages them to open up and try new things 
and learn more about other cultures. The project 
has been impactful with one grade seven student 
learning that, “It is important to treat each other 
with respect no matter what culture we are from.” 
After participating in the project, a grade nine student 
observes, “Cultural diversity makes us better, in that 
we are able to learn more and become better people.”

The projects and resources were presented to other 
students, staff and parents at the school. Organizers 
included the project in the school’s March newsletter 
and shared it on the school Twitter account. They also 
invited the local paper to write an article about the 
project, achieving further awareness in the community.

Melville students lead 
cultural learning
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3. Anti-Racism 

MCoS facilitates workshops and training for students 
and educators to come together to recognize and 
reject racism. Annually, MCoS offers an opportunity 
for high school students to participate in Arrêt/Stop 
Racism Youth Leadership Workshops in February and 
March. This year, we worked with 236 students from 20 
schools, 29 teachers, plus 91 facilitators and 3 Elders 
in Regina, Prince Albert and Swift Current. We also 
offered facilitator training in each location the day 
before the workshops. 

We now provide facilitator training in each location 
the day before the workshops. We were able to train 
91 facilitators and engage 15 experienced facilitators 
through our continuing partnership with Saskatchewan 
Settlement Workers in Schools (SSWIS), with SSWIS staff 
participating as professional development. Inter-Action 
funding from the Department of Canadian Heritage 
also supports the workshops. The facilitator training 
is proving to be a very exciting aspect of this project; 
many returning facilitators share the variety of ways 
and contexts that they are using the methods in their 
schools and organizations.

MCoS and our primary partner, the Saskatchewan 
Ministry of Education, recognize a need to build 
capacity in students and school staff to facilitate 
effective activities in their schools. To that end, we 
worked together to add three webinars to better 
prepare and support student learning and leadership. 
The design and scheduling of this annual workshop 
offers insight, skills and ideas for schools to organize 
and lead activities for the commemoration of March 
21st, the International Day for the Elimination of Racial 
Discrimination. We encourage participants to plan for 
this date and throughout the year.

Workshops provide a deeper conversation 
about racism

During the workshops, students engage with peers from 

throughout the province as they participate in activities 
to explore identity, intercultural relationships, power, 
privilege, racism and discrimination. Many of the  
games are based in drama and creative expression 
to spur personal understanding, empathy and deep 
conversation. Participants also learn to facilitate these 
exercises for use in their local schools and communities 
and are given facilitator guides to support this.

This year we introduced new background information 
on Indigenous people and our shared history in 
Saskatchewan developed with Sue Deranger, Indigenous 
Education Consultant. We purchased five story books 
from Saskatchewan Indigenous Cultural Centre (SICC) 
and one from Gabriel Dumont Institute (GDI) for use in 
a new cultural activity and developed a simulation of 
colonization. An integral part of the workshops is Elders 
sharing their experiences and perspectives at the 
beginning of the workshop and throughout the day.

Workshops launch March 21st campaign

MCoS connects the workshops to the launch of the 
March 21st campaign using them as a springboard to 
launch the campaign. This year’s theme is “Show 
Racism the Door”. We distribute kits to schools and 
facilitators and demonstrate how they can be used. 
We also demonstrate the use of #MarchOutRacism and 
have participants live tweet to show how posts go 
to our social media feeds for the campaign using the 
#MarchOutRacism.

It takes a community to #MarchOutRacism

Through support from Regina Open Door Society 
we were able to offer reimbursements for mileage 
expenses for those traveling. The All Saints Catholic 
School and École Centennial School, Prince Albert 
Multicultural Council each provided space as an in-
kind contribution. Lakeland District Sport, Culture 
and Recreation booked and paid the rental facility 
for the workshop. Once again SK TEAL purchased 
Multifaith calendars as a gift to participating schools 
and facilitator; these are appreciated and provide 
reminders of diversity throughout the year.

This work looks at issues of power and privilege and how they impact  
individual and systemic discrimination; it usually includes active dialogue to  

build equity and justice in our institutions and communities. 

Facilitating and training 
generations to recognize 
and reject racism
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Participating Schools:
• Thom Collegiate
• Albert A.E. Peacock Collegiate
• Central Collegiate
• Cupar School
• Dr. Martin LeBoldus Catholic High School
• Yorkton Regional High School
• Sheldon Williams Collegiate
• Swift Current Comprehensive High School
• Butte Hutterian School
• Ponteix School
• Shaunavon High School
• All Saints Catholic School
• École Centennial School
• Maverick School
• Wesmore Public High School
• Prince Albert Collegiate Institute
• Nechapanuck Centre Child & Family Services Inc.
• Spiritwood High School
• Carlton Comprehensive Public High School
• Blessed Marie Rivier Catholic School 

Partners:
• Prince Albert Multicultural Council
• Lakeland District Sport, Culture and Recreation
• Saskatchewan Settlement Workers in Schools
• Regina Open Door Society
• Southwest Newcomer Welcome Centre
• SK TEAL

We thank our Supporters: Ministry of Education, 
Department of Canadian Heritage and SaskCulture 
through Saskatchewan Lotteries.

March 21st Background

March 21st is designated by the United Nations (UN) 
as the International Day for the Elimination of Racial 
Discrimination. It is a day observed all around the 
world to focus attention on the problems of racism and 
the need to promote racial harmony. The UN made this 
designation in 1966 to mark a tragic event that took 
place on March 21, 1960 in Sharpeville, South Africa 
when 69 peaceful demonstrators were killed during a 
protest against apartheid. Canada was one of the first 
countries to support the initiative and launched its first 
annual campaign against racial discrimination in 1989.

The March 21st campaign heightens awareness of 
the harmful effects of racism and fosters respect, 
equality and diversity. MCoS coordinates and supports 
campaigns and activities in Saskatchewan communities 

and schools with contributions from the Department of 
Canadian Heritage, the Ministry of Parks, Culture and 
Sport, Saskatchewan Lotteries through SaskCulture and 
other partners to recognize March 21st and use it as a 
springboard for the year-long work to recognize and 
reject racism.

Provincial Campaign 

MCoS runs a provincial campaign annually featuring a 
theme and related activities. We now use the Arrêt/
Stop Racism Youth Leadership Workshops to launch this 
campaign. This year’s March 21st campaign theme was 
“Show Racism the Door”. We launched a social media 
campaign to support it. For this campaign, we also 
created a downloadable PDF activity kit. Participants 
could print off this activity guide and post the content 
to a highly visible door. The inside of the door features 
anti-racism activists, what you can do to Show Racism 
the Door and so on. The outside of the door features 
explanations, types and examples of racism. 

We invited members, partners, schools, workplaces, 
faith groups, etc. to download the free activity kit 
and execute it leading up to March 21st and record it 
or any other March 21st related events and activities 
with photos and video and post to social media 
using #MarchOutRacism. People could also join the 
conversation on social media and view the campaign 
social feed on the MCoS website. The campaign was 
successful attracting attention and participation across 
the province.

Thanks to our fantastic members and partners, MCoS 
was able to support local activities in Saskatoon, North 
Battleford, Prince Albert, Swift Current, Moose Jaw, 
Regina, Tisdale, Humboldt and Estevan!

>>> You may have seen racism in your school, 
workplace and community. You can be a powerful voice 
against it: you can make a difference. Recognize and 
reject racism.

Southwest Newcomer Welcome Centre 
Shows Racism the Door on March 21st

Show Racism the Door and 
#MarchOutRacism
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4. Intercultural Connections 

The value of culture and community in supporting 
mental health is underscored as the Uganda Canadian 
Association of Saskatchewan (UCAS) celebrated its 
25th anniversary. In October 2016, UCAS celebrated 
25 years of successful settlement and integration in 
Saskatchewan. 

As if this is not enough cause for celebration, UCAS 
partnered with The Caring Place who also celebrated 
25 years of existence. Over 200 people attended the 
celebrations serving to promote the recognition of 
the benefits of culture and cultural diversity, and 
the development and acceptance of multiculturalism 
reaching out to the broad diversity in Saskatchewan. 

The highlight of the event was a collaboration between 
UCAS/Karibu and Cree traditional group led by Terrance 
Littletent. A play performance depicted Cree First 
Nations welcoming new immigrants to their land. 

“Through this play, UCAS learned how both our cultures 
share some similarities traditionally and culturally,” 
notes Victor Semugooma of UCAS. “Furthermore, 
we gained insights into how culture and community 
can support emotional, social and other aspects of 
life through mental health and well-being.” Through 
this partnership, UCAS is building a strong working 
and personal relationship with Terrance Littletent 
and his group, as well as serving as a role model for 
ethnocultural communities in Saskatchewan.

Lumsden Elementary School invested in French 
literacy resources from Eaglecrest Books, a Canadian 
First Nations publisher, whose books encourage 
understanding, respect, and interest among all 
students. “These resources for emergent readers will 
aid in exposing our young French Immersion students 
to contemporary First Nations peoples and cultures,” 
explains teacher Janice Schmitz.

The Eaglecrest books were put into general 
circulation in the school’s LES Resources Centre for 
French Immersion students to sign out and read. 
Circulation stats show that they are quite popular 
with the students. Children who sign these books 
out independently are becoming more aware of the 
contemporary life of Indigenous people as they read 
these books, which relate directly to themes, events 
and beliefs central to Indigenous culture. The books 
are also helping non-Indigenous students identify 

An exchange of greetings and salutations 
between UCAS/Karibu and Terrance Littletent 
was featured.

UCAS/Karibu: Banafe mulimutya? (Hello, how 
are you?)
Response: Tuli bulungi (we are well)
UCAS/Karibu: attey mwe (and you?)
UCAS/Karibu: Tusanyuse okubala (we are happy 
to meet you)

Terrance: Tansi (How are you?)
Response: M’on ana’ntaw (good)
Terrance: Kiya maka? (and you?)

Entails different cultural groups coming together over time to build bridges through  
exchanges, cooperative work, creating safe spaces, dialogue, creative projects, etc. 

Culture and community 
support mental health

Bridging French and 
Indigenous Cultures
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and appreciate elements that are common between 
cultures facilitating intercultural connections. Teachers 
are using these books while teaching social studies 
and treaty curriculum. Learning is taking place from 
the direct teachings and discussions that arise when 
reading the Eaglecrest books.

“Dans les livres, j’aime les illustrations parce qu’elles 
semblent vraies.” (“In the books, I like the illustrations 
because they look real”). - Abigail Davies, French 
Immersion Grade 2, Lumsden Elementary School

Since 2014, BRIDGES (Building Relationships through 
Intercultural Dialogue and Growing Engagement in 
Saskatchewan) continues to see success in building 
intercultural relationships and understanding. The 
Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan (MCoS), the 

Aboriginal Friendship Centres of Saskatchewan (AFCS), 
and the Saskatchewan Association of Immigrant 
Settlement and Integration Agencies (SAISIA) created a 
provincial partnership to lead research and support on 
intercultural relationships.

The project has completed Phase 1: Blueprints for 
BRIDGES to research through literature review, 
interviews and consultations; and Phase 2: Common 
Ground, a demonstration project in Prince Albert with 
support from three primary local partners and Dr. 
Joe Garcea of the University of Saskatchewan. Phase 
2 allowed the partnership to develop criteria that 
supports the next phase. Currently, the project is in 
Phase 3: MCoS saw increased capacity with Yordanos 
Tesfamariam, as full-time Education and BRIDGES 
Coordinator, and has secured funding for local projects 
(2016-2017) from Affinity Credit Union, artsVest, AFCS 
and Saskatchewan Lotteries through SaskCulture. 
There are currently organizations working in Prince 
Albert, Regina and Saskatoon. In 2017, MCoS offered 
training for local facilitators with the intent to expand 
provincially. The future will see Phase 4: Plans to 
expand intercultural activities beyond Indigenous and 
newcomers. These connections build a foundation that 
allows us to see each other as allies, plan for a shared 
and inclusive future, and solve problems together.

According to MCoS Executive Director, Rhonda 
Rosenberg, “It’s important that newcomers understand 
colonial history, treaties, and the residential school 
experience, so they understand the resilience of 
Indigenous peoples and the challenges that we all have 
to overcome.”

The recognition and need for diversity awareness and 
training is growing in Saskatchewan and these programs 
are some of the great examples that have helped open 
the door to discussion, learning and growth in many 
communities.

The Youth BRIDGES project is a partnership between 
three Regina-based organizations: MCoS, Regina Open 
Door Society (RODS), and the Regina Newo Yotina 
Friendship Centre (NYFC).

The aim of this project is to foster leadership and 
build relationships between newcomer and Indigenous 
youth. Participants range from 13 to 21 years of age. 
The Youth BRIDGES program began in March 2016 

BRIDGES creates 
Intercultural Relationships 
across province

Building BRIDGES between 
Indigenous and Newcomer 
Youth through Theatre
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when these three organizations began working to 
bring newcomer and Indigenous youth together to 
learn from each other, build relationships and foster 
understanding. After initial programming, leaders 
within the group provided direction for 2017. This led 
the partners to create a Halloween social (education 
on various customs and cultural appropriation) and to 
explore possibilities for using theatre to achieve the 
objectives.

The partner organizations worked with theatre 
professionals to design two introductory workshops 
and a five-day intensive program in February 2017. 
This brought together approximately 40 young people 
for the workshop called Building Bridges between 
Indigenous and Newcomer Youth, or Youth BRIDGES.

Participants worked at both RODS and the friendship 
centre for introductions to improvisation and theatre 
games, and percussion instruments from around the 
world, and various dance styles (First Nations and 
Contemporary). Terrance Littletent taught hoop dance 
while sharing the five significant teachings: listen, see, 
knowledge, respect, and love. During the February 
school break, youth engaged in intensive drama 
workshops to share their personal stories, explore 
each other’s experiences, and create original work 
for presentation. They performed this collaborative 
work at Campbell Collegiate on February 25th to 
an appreciative audience of family, friends and 
organizational representatives. Youth learned skills to 

express their personal narratives and built intercultural 
connections. CBC carried an excellent story.

Thanks to the participation of a new partner, Regina 
Multicultural Council (RMC), Youth BRIDGES participants 
are able to tour Mosaic for a celebration of diversity 
that leads to greater appreciation of the importance of 
culture in our lives.

Roberto Misterio, RODS Youth Program Coordinator 
proudly shared Youth BRIDGES at the Prairie Settlement 
Conference in Alberta. “It was highlighted that none 
of the other settlement programs have a program like 
this, and many showed interest.”

In Saskatoon, there is a great deal of related activity, 
so BRIDGES is beginning with organizational networking 
and capacity building. The initial networking meeting 
welcomed 20 organizations. They expressed a 
desire to invite more organizations, have additional 
opportunities for networking, and explore potential 
partnerships. In our second networking meeting, the 
number of organizations grew to 42. Participating 
organizations are inspired by the positive energy when 
people come together and such a network is highly 
valued. Coordination, visibility and connection will be 
the next steps.  

We thank our supporters: Affinity Credit Union, 
SaskCulture, Saskatchewan Lotteries, artsVest and 
Aboriginal Friendship Centres of Saskatchewan (AFCS).

Youth BRIDGES Mosaic Trip

Youth BRIDGES Halloween Social

Youth BRIDGES Drama Workshop

Youth BRIDGES Drama Workshop
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Migration is at the heart of the human experience. 
Throughout history people have undertaken significant 
migrations that have shaped the world we now live 
in: journeys made in hope and exploration, as well 
as journeys made by force or desperation. Through a 
series of portraits and personal narratives, A Rightful 
Place introduces us to 25 newcomers. Common Weal 
Community Arts’ Southern Artistic Director Gerry 
Ruecker and professional photographer Michael Bell 
travelled to eight locations in Saskatchewan, taking 
portraits of consenting newcomers who were chosen by 
participating Newcomer Welcome Centres. 

To highlight the richness, depth and dignity of world 
cultures that the newcomers hail from, participants 
were invited to wear a piece of traditional clothing 
and/or hold an object of personal significance from 
their country of origin. Partnering agencies assisted in 
collecting the accompanying narratives, which briefly 
explain where the participants are from, why they 
emigrated and what challenges or circumstances they 
may have faced in their experience of immigrating to 
a new land. Participants were also invited to supply a 
photograph of their current life, which accompanies 
the portrait and personal narrative.

“A common characteristic of all 25 participants in A 
Rightful Place is they are very thankful to be living 
in Canada and want to contribute to our culture in 
whatever capacity they are able,” observes Ruecker.

The project, A Rightful Place, was conceived and 
undertaken with two main objectives: 1) as an attempt 
to support newcomers and refugees in their efforts to 
adjust to their new foreign home and 2) as an attempt 
to soften the distrust and fear often felt by society 
at large in relation to newcomers, highlighting the 
oneness we share as humans. In addition to showing at 
the Art Gallery of Regina, A Rightful Place will travel to 
North Battleford, Saskatoon and Swift Current in 2017. 
A Rightful Place is presented with funding assistance 
from the Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan and 
Saskatchewan Lotteries through SaskCulture.

Abdulhai Sahar, born in 
Afghanistan, fled to Pakistan 
with his family when he was 18 
and received notice that he was 
to be drafted into the army. He 
was educated in Pakistan, and 
became a freelance journalist 
for the BBC. However, because 
he reported on politics, his life 
became endangered; he and his 
family became refugees once 
again. They were able to move 
to Canada, where he works on 
his English. He has applied to be 
a bus driver.

Heba Anouz, from Syria, fled 
to Jordan along with her family 
when their city was destroyed 
during the current war. Heba is 
a very quiet, humble and soft-
spoken individual who is very 
thankful that she and her family 
have been accepted in Canada 
as refugees where they are safe.

Elisha Muembo, born in the 
Democratic Republic of the 
Congo, has been a refugee 
nearly all of his twenty-some 
years, due to his father being a 
'wanted man' by the rebels who 
took power. Elisha commented 
that he often wakes in the 
morning and can't believe he is 
actually living in a safe country. 
Elisha is currently a student and 
playwright, and has a very active 
sense of humour.

5. Integration
Integration is focused on facilitating the process newcomers to Canada or a community experience 
beyond settlement to become part of their communities. It includes seeing themselves and being seen 
as contributors and feeling welcome to be themselves in many contexts.

Newcomers find A Rightful 
Place in Saskatchewan
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A resource guide has been created to facilitate deeper 
understanding of the picture book Li’l Shadd: A Story 
of Ujima. It provides teachers and students with a 
variety of activities to help them discover that Canada 
- in particular Saskatchewan - is built on diverse 
people’s strength. Educators and students will become 
acquainted with the lifetime contributions of Dr. Alfred 
Schmitz Shadd (1870-1915) who was the first African-
Canadian teacher, doctor, politician, and much more in 
the not yet established province of Saskatchewan. More 
importantly, they will learn about compassion and the 
philosophy of social responsibility that led Dr. Shadd to 
become a highly engaged citizen.

The resource guide is made available for public use 
through the efforts of the Saskatchewan African 
Canadian Heritage Museum Inc. (SACHM). “SACHM’s 
values of inclusion, celebration of diversity, equality 
of human dignity and equitable opportunity, as well 
as perseverance and contribution to the collective 
well-being, are not only an integral part of Li’l Shadd: 
A Story of Ujima, but are the foundation of K-12 
education in Saskatchewan,” explains Carol LaFayette-
Boyd, SACHM Secretary.

The resource guide is divided into three parts: a 
general study guide that ties into English Language Arts 
and Social Science questions relevant to schools across 
the country; a more specific guide that addresses 
Saskatchewan Curriculum Guide outcomes of the 
Social Science Curriculum Guide for Grade 1 to 5; and 
additional resources that provide historical, cultural 
and philosophical background information.

The guide is being shared with the Ministry of 
Education though the Saskatchewan Teachers’ 

Federation for approval to be used in school curriculum 
for younger students.  It is available for download on 
the SACHM website.

INVOLVE now stands for Integrating Newcomers and 
others with Volunteer Opportunities to add Leadership 
Value through Education. It continues to provide 
opportunities that connect new volunteers with 
training and opportunities in their communities at the 
decision-making level. Newcomers and others with 
limited experience develop leadership skills, contribute 
to the community, learn to have their voices heard 
and gain Canadian experience. Organizations gain new 
perspectives, learn to serve everyone in appropriate 
and accessible ways and increase their volunteer base.  
The more diverse the group, the greater the creativity 
of ideas and the more likely to make good choices for 
all members of the community.

“The INVOLVE program provides participants with 
awareness of the non-profit and volunteer systems 
that support many important community programs 
in this province,” explains MCoS executive director 
Rhonda Rosenberg. “INVOLVE also provides networking 
opportunities that help these individuals find 
connections in their communities.”

Originating from a partnership with Regina Open Door 
Society and SaskCulture for a pilot in 2014-15, INVOLVE 
has grown to include the Saskatchewan Association 
of Immigrant Settlement and Integration Agencies 
(SAISIA) in order to reach new communities around 
the province. In 2017, INVOLVE training took place in 
Weyburn with Southeast Newcomer Services, as well as 
in Regina. Heather Ritenburg worked with the partners 
to integrate Indigenous content and perspectives in 
the curriculum and make the process appropriate for 
newcomer, Indigenous and established participants.

Essential to integration Rosenberg notes, “It’s 
important that newcomers understand colonial history, 
treaties, and the residential school experience so 
they understand the resilience of Indigenous peoples 
and the challenges we all have to overcome. These 
are core considerations for those entering leadership 
positions where they will make decisions in community 
organizations. ”

In April 2017, MCoS engaged Heather Ritenburg to train 
INVOLVE facilitators with the intent to expand the 
program provincially. It attracted 25 participants from 

Developing Diverse 
Volunteer Leaders 

Teacher’s Resource Guide 
to Li’l Shadd
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settlement agencies, sport, culture and recreation 
districts, municipalities, educational institutions, and 
MCoS members, most of whom plan to deliver INVOLVE 
in their communities.

The recognition and need for diversity awareness and 
training is growing in Saskatchewan and the INVOLVE 
program is an effective model that has helped open 
the door to discussion, learning, and growth in many 
communities.

In recognition of Canada’s 150th anniversary of 
confederation, MCoS proactively recognizes the need 
to facilitate Saskatchewan’s growing diversity. MCoS 
continues to work on inclusivity-inspired programming 
to help build more culturally respectful and engaging 
communities. By leveraging funding from the Canada 
150 Fund, MCoS launched the #WelcomeHome150 – 
Creating Welcoming and Inclusive Communities project 
in 2016, which builds and strengthens awareness and 
understanding reflecting our diversity in 2017 and 
beyond.

A Welcoming and Inclusive Community (WIC) is one 
which is free from discrimination and where residents 
feel able to participate in all aspects of social, 
economic, cultural and political life.

“We can’t ignore the challenges posed by our colonial 
history and arrival of many newcomers,” says MCoS 
executive director, Rhonda Rosenberg. “Racism, 
discrimination, stereotyping and bias not only hurt 
individuals, they affect the community as a whole.”

In its first year, the WIC project included the Welcome 
Home 150 Pledge and Intercultural Facilitator Training. 
In late 2016, MCoS launched a social media campaign 
to encourage individuals, businesses, municipalities, 
institutions and organizations to take the Welcome 
Home 150 Pledge by downloading the pledge, posting 
a photo or video of themselves with the pledge, 
sharing on social media with #WelcomeHome150 and 
challenging friends to do the same. After conducting 
a presentation for SUMA, we are pleased to announce 
that SUMA fully endorses the pledge.

In addition, early in 2017, work began on training 
intercultural facilitators around the province, as 
leaders who will work to help community groups and 
individuals develop a better understanding of diversity 

and steps to create more welcoming and inclusive 
programs and services that reflect Saskatchewan’s 
diversity. Going forward, this project will continue 
the Welcome Home 150 Pledge campaign. A Welcome 
Home 150 Toolkit will be distributed and made 
available at mcos.ca as a community resource. A 
second training will take place in September focusing 
on deeper learning for intercultural facilitators. MCoS 
is expanding its capacity to offer education and training 
to a variety of audiences.

The recognition and need for diversity awareness and 
training is growing in Saskatchewan and these programs 
are some of the great examples that have helped open 
the door to discussion, learning and growth in many 
communities.

Pledge Takers at the Heritage Festival in Saskatoon.

Canada 150: Creating 
Welcoming and Inclusive 
Communities (WIC)
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• 232 Welcome Home Pledges taken
• 46 intercultural facilitators trained 

in 12 different communities
• 10 events attended or hosted
• 15 presentations made across Saskatchewan in 5 

cities and towns

“Talking and hearing with people of other cultures 
was the highlight (of the training) for me. A group of 
us bonded over drinks on the first evening. This really 
broke the ice. We became very close very quickly. It 
allowed us to open up during the full training and we 
worked so well together as a team.” – Intercultural 
Facilitator Training Participant

“A wise person learns from everyone every day. I look 
forward to learning from people from all backgrounds. 
“– A Welcome Home Pledge Taker

“I want to work towards all of the points of the 
Welcome Home Pledge. In my opinion, it is incredibly 
important to bring awareness to all of these. I want to 
work towards these goals both in my personal life and 
professional life.” - INVOLVE Training Participant

“In my role with the City of Yorkton, I need to connect 
with different groups to ensure their voices and input 
are heard and received on various municipal issues. 
At the community level, with a variety of community 
initiatives, I connect different groups with each other 
on common issues so they can support each other 
and share in the implementation and responsibility of 
effective community change. I believe the intercultural 
facilitation skills gained at this workshop would be 
valuable for my work and our community. In addition, 
this training would help the City of Yorkton move 
forward with the Professional Development and 
Training for Public Servants as called for by Action 57 
of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada: 
Calls to Action.” - Lisa Washington, City of Yorkton

Communautés accueillantes et inclusives
WELCOMING & INCLUSIVE COMMUNITIES
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We celebrate Saskatchewan Multicultural Week each 
November during the week that includes November 
22nd. During this week, MCoS celebrates both the 
benefits of and contributions to multiculturalism in our 
province. We do this by focusing on the multicultural 
values of Respect for Diversity, Recognition and 
Rejection of Racism, Intercultural Connections, and 
Integration, which are the cornerstones that inform 
our work, and by also engaging in the five streams of 
multicultural work: Cultural Continuity, Celebration 
of Diversity, Anti-Racism, Intercultural Connections 
and Integration.

Who’s Your Multicultural Superhero? | 
#MulticulturalSuperhero

MCoS runs a provincial public education campaign 
annually focusing on a theme and activity. This year, 
we were inspired by the popularity and inspiration of 
superheroes in mainstream culture and applied the 
concept to our campaign using a multicultural lens. 
We invited Saskatchewan to celebrate by telling us 
who their multicultural superheroes are and why. 
Multicultural superheroes promote multicultural values. 
Multicultural Superheroes can include any person or 
group of people, real or fictitious, who inspires you 

with their super powers for respect and inclusion. A 
Multicultural Superhero is someone who: 1) protects 
and celebrates all cultures, 2) proudly embraces and 
shares traditions, 3) battles “villains”, such as racism, 
discrimination, disrespectful ideologies, oppressive 
social systems and institutions, 4) leaps tall barriers to 
build bridges for intercultural connections, 5) activates 
a power magnet to draw diverse people together for 
creative innovation and 6) demonstrates super vision 
and strength to achieve equality and equity for all.

Campaign gains traction

Each year, MCoS invites communities across 
Saskatchewan to join in celebrating and recognizing 
Saskatchewan Multicultural Week by way of 
proclamation. The following communities proclaimed 
November 19-27, 2016 as Saskatchewan Multicultural 
Week: Estevan, Lloydminster, Meadow Lake, Melfort, 
Prince Albert, Province of Saskatchewan, Regina and 
Swift Current.

The media took interest in the campaign and we 
received 11 media stories. The Saskatchewan School 
Board Association sent out information in November to 
our key audience of educators. We had some outspoken 
social media contributors fuelling our campaigns 
including Museums Association of Saskatchewan, 
SaskCulture and SOHL. Through a well-established 
relationship with SOS Children’s Safety Magazine, 
their staff shared videos about their multicultural 
superheroes. The Ministry of Parks, Culture and Sport 
issued a proclamation this year, supplied a statement 
for the Multicultural Honours program and a quote for 
the news release. Legislative Secretary Docherty also 
introduced MCoS board, staff and Honours recipients in 
the legislature in recognition of their work in making 
multiculturalism matter.

6. All Streams of Multicultural Work
The following events demonstrate all five streams of multicultural work.

Who is your multicultural 
superhero?
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Our work supports the Saskatchewan 
Multiculturalism Act

MCoS supports the Saskatchewan Multiculturalism 
Act ensuring it is carried out in our work and our 
members’ activities. Saskatchewan was the first 
province to enact multiculturalism legislation in 1974, 
recognizing the right of every community to retain its 
identity, language and traditional arts and sciences 
for the mutual benefit of citizens. In 1997, the Act 
was revised and a section of the Act states the policy 
should preserve, strengthen and promote Aboriginal 
cultures and acknowledge their historic and current 
contribution to development of Saskatchewan. 
Responsibility for the Act resides with the Ministry of 
Parks, Culture and Sport, Minister Ken Cheveldayoff.  
The Act states broadly the provincial multiculturalism 
policy and provides the Minister power to carry out 
the purposes of the Act. MCoS has been instrumental 
in the development and promotion of these 
multicultural values.

The Multicultural Honours event honours volunteers 
who make significant contributions to multiculturalism 
in Saskatchewan providing great inspiration. In 
November, over 100 members of Saskatchewan’s 
multicultural community gathered at Government 
House to kick off Saskatchewan Multicultural Week 
and honour some of Saskatchewan’s multicultural 
superheroes – people who have made significant 
contributions to the multicultural community. This 
event officially launched Saskatchewan Multicultural 
Week 2016 and the related campaign, Who’s Your 
Multicultural Superhero?

Her Honour, the Honourable Vaughn Solomon Schofield, 
Lieutenant Governor of Saskatchewan hosted the 
event. Joining her was Mark Docherty, MLA for 
Regina Coronation Park and Legislative Secretary to 
the Premier of Saskatchewan for Immigration and 
Culture, Neeraj Saroj, Vice-President, Multicultural 
Council of Saskatchewan and Bob Bymoen, President, 
Saskatchewan Government and General Employees’ 
Union (SGEU). Other special guests included Joanne 
McDonald, SaskCulture President, Muna DeCiman, 
MCoS Board Member and past Betty Szuchewycz Award 
recipient, and Joyce Vandall, former MCoS Board 
Member, Secretary and undisputed multicultural 
superhero.

Time was taken to acknowledge and all volunteers 
– especially those who volunteer for MCoS and its 
members. The many volunteers around the province 
make multiculturalism central to the cultural, 
economic, social and political life of Saskatchewan. In 
2015-16, among MCoS members over 14,430 volunteers 
contributed over 299,203 hours of time – making them 
multicultural superheroes! Volunteers and staff with 
different cultural backgrounds bring different ways 
of seeing the world which can contribute to more 
effective decision-making and problem-solving.

Multicultural Youth Leadership Award 2016

The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan and the 
Saskatchewan Government and General Employees’ 
Union (SGEU) presented the third annual Multicultural 
Youth Leadership Award to an individual who is 29 years 
of age and under. 

The 2016 recipient is Jellyn Ayudan who also received a 
$500 reward from SGEU. As an immigrant herself from 
the Philippines, Jellyn dedicates her life to empowering 
other new immigrants and refugees to achieve their 
fullest potential. A strong contributor to the stream 
of cultural continuity, Jellyn has been the President 
of Dr. Martin LeBoldus High School’s Multicultural 
Club for four years. This enables her to showcase her 
Filipino culture at the school and in the community. 
Extremely active in fulfilling the stream of celebration 
of diversity, Jellyn has been organizing the school’s 
Multicultural Week for four years. She aims to include 
as many cultures as possible while celebrating their 
differences and similarities. Some initiatives Jellyn 
participates in to achieve the anti-racism stream of 
work include working with “CluedINclude”, attending a 
workshop to learn about discrimination and 

(L-R) Lieutenant Governor of Saskatchewan Vaughn 
Solomon Schofield, 2016 Multicultural Youth Leadership 

Award Recipient Jellyn Ayudan, MCoS Vice-President 
Neeraj Saroj and SGEU President Bob Bymoen.

MCoS Multicultural 
Honours features 
Multicultural Superheroes
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privilege and then taking what she had learned and 
organizing a week-long event dedicated to eliminating 
racial discrimination. Jellyn is a Regina Open Door 
Society Peer Leader where she helps newcomers and 
immigrants to settle and integrate into Canadian life. 
Jellyn always seeks to improve herself and advance 
her positive influence in the community through the 
five streams of multicultural work. Over time, Jellyn’s 
contributions to multiculturalism slowly expanded 
outwards to her community and will continue to grow 
as she gets older and wiser. 

Special mention goes out to the other nominees: 
Sneha Chakraborty, Mudra School of Performing Arts, 
Saskatoon; Haris Khan, Regina Public Interest Research 
Group, Regina; and Fartun Mohamud, University of 
Regina African Students’ Association, Regina.

Betty Szuchewycz Award 2016

Each year, the Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan 
presents the Betty Szuchewycz Award to an adult who 
has made significant contributions to the multicultural 
community. The 2016 nominees were: Erika DuMont, 
Karnevalgesellschaft Harmonie, Regina; and Faeeza 
Moolla, Islamic Association of Saskatchewan & Muslims 
for Peace & Justice, Regina. 

The 2016 recipient is Faeeza Moolla who will also select 
a charity for a donation of $500 from MCoS. Faeeza 
immigrated to Regina from South Africa 18 years ago. 
To achieve the stream of Cultural Continuity, she 
volunteers for activities within her community, ranging 
from potlucks to religious festivals to children’s and 
family activities. To carry out the stream of Celebration 
of Diversity, Faeeza focuses on building bridges with 
other community groups and organizations. She uses 
her connections as a representative of the Islamic 
Association of Saskatchewan to continuously reach 
out. Faeeza naturally gravitates to work on the stream 
of Anti-racism. Growing up in South Africa, Faeeza 
challenged racial inequality, fighting against the 
tyrannical apartheid regime until the free elections in 
1994. Here in Saskatchewan, she joined Muslims for 
Peace and Justice, serving as a member, secretary 
and, vice-president, and president over the course 
of ten years. In order to facilitate intercultural 
connections, Faeeza implemented a joint Eid Program 
for community and government organizations, she is 
a long standing member of the Islamic Association of 
Saskatchewan serving as a volunteer bridging gaps 
and overcoming differences. She also serves as a 
member on the Islamic History Month Canada Board, 
allowing her to highlight the benefits of integration 
to strengthen the community as a whole. Due to her 
significant contributions to the five streams of 

multicultural work in Saskatchewan, Faeeza was 
invited to be one of 150 community builders in Regina 
to participate in a national conversation on the future 
of Canada. 

Both recipients are strong examples of a multicultural 
superhero as their contributions fulfil the five 
multicultural streams of work: Cultural Continuity, 
Celebration of Diversity, Anti-Racism, Intercultural 
Connections and Integration. 

(L-R) Lieutenant Governor of Saskatchewan Vaughn 
Solomon Schofield, 2016 Betty Szuchewycz Award 

Recipient Faeeza Moolla, MCoS Vice-President Neeraj 
Saroj and MCoS Secretary and Chair of the Recognition 

Committee Renata Cosic

(Back L-R) SGEU President Bob Bymoen, MCoS ED 
Rhonda Rosenberg, 2016 Betty Szuchewycz Award 
Recipient Faeeza Moolla,  2016 Multicultural Youth 

Leadership Award Recipient Jellyn Ayudan, MCoS Vice-
President Neeraj Saroj and MCoS Secretary and Chair of 

the Recognition Committee Renata Cosic.
(Front L-R) Lieutenant Governor of Saskatchewan 

Vaughn Solomon Schofield and Mark Docherty, MLA for 
Regina Coronation Park and Legislative Secretary to the 
Premier of Saskatchewan for Immigration and Culture
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Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan 
452 Albert Street North, Regina SK S4R 3C1 
P: (306) 721-6267  |  F: (306) 721-3342 
E: mcos@mcos.ca |  www.mcos.ca  
  

  

 

 
 
 
 
          The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan is committed to promoting,  
          fostering, improving and developing multiculturalism in the cultural,  
          economic, social and political life of Saskatchewan while working to  
          achieve equality of all residents. MCoS is supported by Saskatchewan 
          Lotteries through SaskCulture. 

 

 
Current programs: 

 
 

Name of Program  Who Can 
Apply  

Maximum 
amount  

Deadline  Approx. # 
of grants 
per year  

Strategic Initiatives 
(including Festivals) 

Non-Profit 
Members 

$3,000 March 1, 2017, 
September 15, 2017 

15 per year 

Intercultural Connections~ 
 

Non-Profit 
Members 

$3,000  TBA 10 per year 

Multicultural Education 
Initiatives (MEI)  

Schools/school 
divisions serving 
Pre-K to 12 

$400 October 30, 2017  50 per year 

Sponsorship MCoS sponsors activities that promote our mission, aims and objectives while 
offering opportunities to raise our public profile in a positive manner.  
 
Any individual or organization that is a member of MCoS can apply. Applications 
are accepted at any time throughout the year. 
 
To inquire or apply, please contact our Executive Director, Rhonda Rosenberg,  
at exec@mcos.ca. 

 
For more information on our funding programs including how to apply, visit mcos.ca. 
 

MCoS 2017 Funding Deadlines
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Thank you to our Funders



45Annual Report 2016 - 2017

Treasurer’s Message
The 2016-17 Audited 
Financial Statements 
demonstrate growth and 
responsible financial 
management. The auditors 
at MWC have offered their 
qualified opinion that 
the financial statements 

are accurate and reflect the true financial position 
of MCoS. MCoS Directors understand the qualification 
and management has already implemented changes to 
address it. The statements indicate activity to meet our 
Ends through investment in the community and direct 
engagement with a healthy surplus.

There are a number of points of clarification I will 
highlight in the financial statements: 
• Qualification: Revenue generation through education 

has grown rapidly. Staff created processes and 
maintained records internally so that MCoS is able 
to demonstrate fees charged for specific services. 
Schedule 1 indicates that MCoS delivered educational 
services to 12 organizations with revenue of $11,262, 
and MCoS trained 26 Intercultural Facilitators 
who paid a total of $9,700. External verification 
is needed to ensure we can demonstrate that we 
are reporting all revenues received. In order to 
meet audit controls for external verification, staff 
have now instituted contracts for workshops with 
both signatures and date to verify that the amount 
received matches what an external party has 
agreed to; and we ask paid registrants to sign in 
at MCoS sessions. The auditors are confident that 
this qualification will be resolved by next year, 
because MCoS acts on their recommendations for risk 
reduction and process improvement.

• The Statement of Financial Position and the 
Statement of Cash Flow show that there is more cash 
at the end of 2016-17 than in the previous year; this 
is due to an anomaly in the timing of the deposit 
of funds from Saskatchewan Lotteries for 2016-17. 
Normally the first half of the annual global funding 
is deposited in March in advance of the beginning 
of the fiscal year, but it actually took place in April 
2016. This is balanced by the deferred revenue (Note 
6). We are grateful to SaskCulture and Saskatchewan 
Lotteries for this sustainable source of operational 
revenue (Note 3). The Lotteries Trust Fund 
supports over 12,000 sport, culture and recreation 
organizations in Saskatchewan communities. We have 
provided a ticket to all those present at the AGM as 
a symbolic reminder that we are grateful for this 

support and to let others know that all activities by 
MCoS and those in which it invests rely on lotteries.

• Revenues from the federal government have also 
increased. In addition to Inter-Action funding for 
March 21st, we were able to obtain Canada 150 
funding for the Welcoming and Inclusive Communities 
project. The activities in this work allow MCoS to 
move forward on our goals. We are grateful to our 
partners at Canadian Heritage.

• We extend our thanks to the provincial ministries 
of Education, Parks, and Culture and Sport for their 
contributions to youth leadership, Saskatchewan 
Multicultural Week and the March 21st campaign.

• We continue to invest in activities and projects that 
fulfil MCoS Ends. The Allocations and Multicultural 
Education Initiatives Committees support projects. 
MCoS works with organizations that receive funding 
to ensure that they effectively advance multicultural 
values and report in a way that demonstrates the 
contribution. MCoS sponsors activities that support 
our mandate and offer significant promotional 
opportunities. 

• Some lines in Schedule 5 appear to have decreased. 
We have created new lines to better indicate 
spending in specific program areas. Youth Leadership 
had been in Multicultural Education Initiatives, 
Saskatchewan Multicultural Week had been with 
March 21st, we created a special fund for Regional 
Multicultural Councils.

• The net surplus of $37,114 is the result of increased 
revenues and careful stewardship balanced 
with strategic investment in MCoS member and 
partnership activities. This will allow us to meet 
an objective in the 2016-19 Strategic Plan to add 
$10,000 per year to a reserve fund. The balance in 
that account is now $40,010 (Note 4). These funds 
must come from self-generated revenue, so that 
grants can be used for specific program purposes. 
Sources include Multifaith Calendar sales, education 
revenue, registrations, memberships and donations.  

We are grateful to the professional services at the 
Administration Centre for Sport, Culture and Recreation 
who support our tracking, monitoring and reporting 
of financial transactions. We thank our members who 
have supported our financial efforts and our aim of 
promoting MCoS’ multicultural values through purchases 
of Multifaith Calendars, greeting cards, and lapel pins 
through donations and buying lottery tickets and 
encouraging others to do the same in order to support 
the cultural, sport and recreation sectors. 

Meka Okochi, Treasurer
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Audited Financial 
Statements 2016-17
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Auditor’s Report
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Statement of Financial Position
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Statement of Operations
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Statement of Cash Flows
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Schedules 1, 2 and 3
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Schedules 4, 5 and 6
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Notes
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The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan rents the use of the boardroom located at 454 Albert Street 
North, Regina Saskatchewan. You can request a paper form or fill it online at mcos.ca. 

 
Rental includes: 

 Member rate: $50 per day / $10 per hour ( Non-member rate is x2) 
 Boardroom that seats up to 15 people 
 Full kitchen available 
 Bathroom 
 Projector and white wall 
 Wireless connection 
 Climate control 
 Ample free parking 

The following terms and conditions apply to all board room rentals: 
 A damage deposit of $100 is required upon signing the contract. The deposit is refunded following the 

event less any cleaning or damage fees assessed. 
 The board room is available for use outside of regular office hours and weekends. 
 The Renter is responsible for any and all damage to the facilities and/or contents and fixtures. 
 The use of open flames or candles in the board room is prohibited. 
 Please do not bring alcoholic beverages inside. Smoking is not permitted inside or immediately outside 

the building. This includes all tobacco, e-cigarettes & vapes. 
 Maintain the cleanliness of the board room, returning it to the state in which it is found: garbage and 

recycling must be placed in provided bins, all dirty dishes cleaned, and chairs returned to their proper 
place around the board room table. You are welcome to use the dishwasher. 

 Thumbtacks, staples or adhesives of any kind are not permitted on any walls, doors or other painted 
surfaces anywhere in the board room. Post-it notes and flip chart pages are acceptable. 

 Keys must be returned in the mail slot after your meeting/event.  
 
For more information about our boardroom rental, email mcos@mcos.ca  
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Multicultural Council 
of Saskatchewan

452 Albert Street N. Regina, SK  S4R 3C1

P: (306) 721-MCoS (6267)
F: (306) 721-3342
E: mcos@mcos.ca

mcos.ca
Treaty 4 Territory

F U N D I N G  P R O V I D E D  B Y

AKING
    ULTICULTURALISM
          ATTER

40
years

mailto:mcos%40mcos.ca?subject=
http://mcos.ca/
https://www.linkedin.com/company/multicultural-council-of-saskatchewan-mcos-?trk=top_nav_home
https://www.facebook.com/MulticulturalCouncilofSK/
https://twitter.com/MC_o_S
https://www.instagram.com/multiculturalcouncilofsask/
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